

Development of an Efficient Methodology for Modeling Parasitic Effects within a Broadband Test Circuit

Kassem Hamze

▶ To cite this version:

Kassem Hamze. Development of an Efficient Methodology for Modeling Parasitic Effects within a Broadband Test Circuit. Electronics. Normandie Université, 2018. English. NNT: 2018NORMC232 . tel-01958150

HAL Id: tel-01958150 https://theses.hal.science/tel-01958150v1

Submitted on 17 Dec 2018

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.



THÈSE

Pour obtenir le diplôme de doctorat

Spécialité ELECTRONIQUE, MICROELECTRONIQUE, OPTIQUE ET LASERS,

OPTOELECTRONIQUE MICROONDES

Préparée au sein de l'Université de Caen Normandie

Development of an Efficient Methodology for Modeling Parasitic Effects within a Broadband Test Circuit

Présentée et soutenue par Kassem HAMZE

Thèse soutenue publiquement le 06/11/2018 devant le jury composé de			
Mme NATHALIE DELTIMPLE	Maître de conférences HDR, IMS-Bordeaux	Rapporteur du jury	
M. JEAN-GUY TARTARIN	Professeur des universités, UNIVERSITE TOULOUSE 3 PAUL SABATIER	Rapporteur du jury	
M. EDOUARD DE LEDINGHEN	Directeur, PRESTO-ENGINEERING CAEN	Membre du jury	
M. CHRISTOPHE GAQUIERRE	Professeur des universités, UNIVERSITE LILLE 1 SCIENCES ET TECHNOLOG	Président du jury	
M. VUONG TÂN-PHU	Professeur des universités, INP Grenoble	Membre du jury	
M. SIDINA WANE	Ingénieur HDR, E-V Technologies	Membre du jury	
M. PHILIPPE DESCAMPS	Professeur des universités, 14 ENSI de Caen	Directeur de thèse	
M. DANIEL PASQUET	Professeur émérite, ENSEA	Co-directeur de thèse	

Thèse dirigée par PHILIPPE DESCAMPS et DANIEL PASQUET, Laboratoire de cristallographie et sciences des materiaux (Caen)









ACKNOWLEDGMENT

This work has been carried out under financial support of Presto Engineering Inc. This CIFRE thesis was realized through a collaboration among Ecole Nationale Supérieure d'Ingénieurs de Caen (ENSICAEN), Crismat laboratory, Presto Engineering Europe and NXP Caen.

In the following paragraphs, I would like to acknowledge all the people, who helped me, each of them in his/her own unique way, to accomplish my thesis.

First of all, I would like to thank all the members of the jury for their participation in the eight-party committee, including Mr. Jean Guy TARTARIN, Professor from University of Toulouse, LAAS, Mrs. Nathalie DELTIMPLE, Doctor and HDR from university of Bordeaux, IMS, Mr. Christophe GAQUIERE, Professor from University of Lille, IEMN and Mr. Tan Phu VUONG, Professor from University of Grenoble, IMEP-LAHC.

Also, I would like to acknowledge my supervisors. Prof. Philippe DESCAMPS, the director of my thesis from ENSICAEN (Caen, France), Prof. Daniel PASQUET, the co-director from ENSEA (CERGY, France) and Mr. Edouard DE LEDINGHEN, Test engineer leader from Presto Engineering Europe (Caen, France), for the assignment of this thesis, for their continuous support, guidance and for their ideas that in essence have been implemented in this project.

Furthermore, I would also like to acknowledge with much appreciation for Mr. Dominique LESENECHAL, who was always available to solve any technical problem and for Dr. Sidina WANE for his cooperation and support.

Above all, I want to thank my beloved parents and friends for their love, sacrifices, companion, patience and support during my academic years.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE OF CONTENTS
GLOSSARY11
GENERAL INTRODUCTION14
I. CONTEXT AND STATE OF THE ART17
I.1 Introduction
I.2 Context and motivation
I.3 Evolution of network Analyzer
I.3.1 Scalar network analyzer
I.4 Vector network analyzers
I.4.1 Measuring of S-parameters
I.4.2 SOLT calibration
I.5 Self calibration methods
I.5.1 TRL procedure
I.6 Industrial context
I.6.1 Load board
I.6.2 Device under test (DUT)
I.7 Conclusion
II. TRL CALIBRATION TECHNIQUE AND DE-EMBEDDING METHOD
II.1 Introduction
II.2 Methodology description for TRL calibration
II.2.1 Standards definition

II.2	2.2 Calculation of the error terms	
II.3	DUT embedded within a PCB	
II.4	Two-port board setup	40
II.4	4.1 Calibration steps	41
II.4	4.2 DUT measurements	44
II.5	First validation of the method	44
II.6	Conclusion and Perspectives	48
III. ME	ASUREMENT METHODOLOGY AND EXTRACTION RESULTS	50
III.1	Introduction	52
III.2	Characteristics of a device that undergoes test	53
III.3	Calibration standards: design model and fabrication	54
III.	3.1 Design model	54
III.	3.2 Calibration standards under fabrication	56
III.4	E.M simulation validation	57
III.	4.1 PCB model	58
III.	4.2 Use of E.M simulations for the calibration standards	58
III.	4.3 Simulated measurements with an active two-port device	59
III.5	Calibration standards behavior	60
III.	5.1 Measuring of standards by GS probes	60
III.	5.2 Verification of the calibration using standards	62
III.6	Measurement: evaluation and validation	64
III.	.6.1 Board specification	65
III.	.6.2 Measurements validation	65
III.	.6.3 Parasitic coupling effects	68

III.7 Applications to power measurements	70
III.7.1 Available power gain	70
III.7.2 Insertion power gain	71
III.7.3 Operating power gain	72
III.7.4 Transducer gain	73
III.8 Conclusion and Perspectives	74
IV. MULTI-PORT TRL CALIBRATION FOR DIFFERENTIAL DEVICES	76
IV.1 Introduction	78
IV.2 TRL mixed mode de-embedding method	79
IV.2.1 Natural modes	79
IV.2.2 Mixed modes	80
IV.2.3 In terms of power waves	82
IV.2.4 Characteristic Impedance for non-coupled lines	83
IV.2.5 S-matrix transformation between natural and mixed modes	83
IV.3 Differential input and single output device	84
IV.3.1 S-matrix transformation	84
IV.3.2 Z-matrix transformation for a single input and differential output	85
IV.4 TRL calibration process	86
IV.4.1 First TRL between P1 and P3 using Thru1, Line1 and Reflect	86
IV.4.2 Second TRL between P ₂ and P ₃ using Thru2, Line2 and Reflect	87
IV.4.3 Determination of Z ₂₁	
IV.5 Circuit simulation using ADS	90
IV.5.1 Input/Output parts of PCB	90
IV.5.2 Standards description with ADS elements	91

IV.	5.3 Double TRL calibration and determination of Z ₂₁	
IV.	5.4 Initial vs. Calculated A and B parameters	94
IV.6	Conclusion and Perspectives	97
V. GEN	ERAL CONCLUSION AND PERSPECTIVES	99
V .1	General Conclusion	
V.2	Perspectives	
REFERI	ENCES	104
LIST OF FIGURES		
LIST OF PUBLICATIONS		
APPENDIX 1		
APPENDIX 2		
ABSTRACT130		
RESUME		

GLOSSARY

ENSICAEN	Ecole Nationale Supérieure d'Ingénieurs de CAEN
RF	Radio Frequency
mm	Millimeter-Wave
РСВ	Printed Circuit Board
VNA	Vector Network Analyzer
DUT	Device Under Test
SOLT	Short-Open-Load-Thru
ADC	Analogue Digital Converter
CW	Continuous Wave
CPW	Coplanar Wave Guide
TRL	Thru-Reflect-Line
SOLR	Short-Open-Load-Reciprocal
LRM	Line-Reflect-Match
TSD	Thru-Short-Delay
HFSS	High Frequency Structure Stimulator
3D	3 Dimensions
2.5D	2.5 Dimensions
ADS	Advanced Design System
GS	Ground-Signal
GSG	Ground-Signal-Ground

e.m	Electromagnetic-Simulation
НВТ	Heterojunction bipolar Transistor
MMIC	Monolithic Microwave Integrated Circuit
WLAN	Wide Local Area Network
LNA	Low Noise Amplifier
TX	Transmitter Mode
RX	Receiver Mode
PA	Power Amplifier
ANT	Antenna
GND	Ground
TAR	Thru-Antenna-Receiver
ТАТ	Thru-Antenna-Transmitter
LAR	Line-Antenna-Receiver
LAT	Line-Antenna-Transmitter
RAR	Reflect-Antenna-Receiver
RAT	Reflect-Antenna-Transmitter
EVB	Evaluation Board
Cal-Kit	Calibration Kit

GENERAL INTRODUCTION

1. Thesis frame

The thesis subject is "Development of an Efficient Methodology for Modelling Parasitic effects within a Broadband Circuit". The thesis has been prepared in a common laboratory among Ecole Nationale Supérieure d'Ingénieurs de CAEN (ENSICAEN), Crismat laboratory, Presto Engineering Europe and NXP Caen.

The thesis subject was found, when engineers from the industrial environment start to complain form the difference in behavior between the test board and the final end product for the customers. The study begun by measuring an active device within a load board and to compare it with the same device soldered on the final application board. Many difficulties found during the characterization and modeling in order to locate the critical sources of errors which have lead to the next studies. Some works in this thesis are not only to resolve the error issues within the test board, but also to support our partners in industrial society to de-embed the errors from the final end product device and then be able to optimize the production yield.

2. Organization of thesis manuscript

The manuscript is organized in 5 chapters.

- ✓ Chapter 1 presents the context and state of the art for the evolution of network analyzer and calibration methods. The purpose of chapter 1 is to give a global background of the different calibration methods that have been used during measurements and our new approach for a TRL technique. The state of art of the method developed in this thesis will be presented in details in the next chapters.
- ✓ Chapter 2 presents the new approach for the TRL technique and de-embedding method with analytical equations. The different calibration steps and de-embedding have been described and an overview scheme for a full two-port board setup has been shown with the placement of standards and reference planes. At the end of this chapter an example has been studied for the first validation.

- ✓ Chapter 3 concentrates on the measurement methodology and extraction of results. The device to be tested has been described and the design model and fabrication for the TRL standards have been shown. Then an evaluation and verification of the measurements have been done using an evaluation board by a comparison the measurement results with calculated ones.
- ✓ Chapter 4 presents a multi-port TRL calibration method for a differential device. It shows a mixed-mode TRL de-embedding method and a four-port measurement method using a two-port Vector Analyzer Network (VNA). This chapter introduces also a double TRL calibration methodology for a DUT with differential input and single output.
- ✓ Chapter 5 concludes the thesis with a summary of the obtained results. The perspectives and technical challenges are presented.

CHAPTER I

CONTEXT AND STATE OF THE ART

I.1 Introduction

Chapter I presents the objectives and motivation of the thesis in the background of the RF, mmwaves and the history of vector analyzers and calibration methods. This chapter is organized as follows. Paragraph I.2 shows the history of RF/microwave network analyzers. Then, paragraph I.3 presents an evolution of network analyzers. Paragraph I.4 shows a description of vector network analyzer with its measurement S-parameters and SOLT calibration errors. Furthermore, paragraph I.5 presents the self-calibration procedures and a de-embedding technique. Paragraph I.6 shows an overview scheme of a device embedded within a test socket in a load board, the place of reference planes where the measurements takes place and our new approach for TRL calibration. Finally, paragraph I.7 concludes chapter I.

I.2 Context and motivation

The RF/microwave network analyzer has enabled the evolution of high frequency components and how they are designed. The basic ability to measure transmission, reflection, and impedance properties of circuits and devices enables engineers to optimize the performance of amplifiers, frequency converters, signal separation and altering devices, and other components. The performance of communications and defense systems depends heavily on the capabilities of these components and their test systems [1-3].

Network analyzers — being vector measuring instruments — have the unique ability to apply error correction techniques to improve their accuracy. Initially, short circuits were used to establish the maximum level of reflection magnitude. Precision transmission lines, sliding loads, and sliding shorts were used as impedance standards. Precision attenuators, such as piston and rotary vane variable attenuators, were used to establish transmission loss reference levels. Such calibration methods were able to remove some of the measurement scalar errors [4-6]. The 8407 and 8410 swept frequency vector network analyzers made it possible to correct some of the vector errors. The 8542 made full vector error correction possible for the first time [7]. It also allowed imperfect standards, such as the open-standard, to be denied by a device model. The short-open-load through calibration method was fully enabled.

A surge in research on VNA calibration methods brought us the through-reflect-line family of calibrations, which was implemented in the 8510 [8]. Measurement accuracy became limited by

the accuracy of the calibration standards. Thus, ultra-precision reference transmission lines and slotless female contacts were introduced. Electronic calibration was invented to simplify calibration; a single connection and a software controlled sequence completed the process. Multi-port, differential, and non-linear calibration methods and standards are the current challenges [9].

I.3 Evolution of network Analyzer

Network Analyzer Architectures Historically, scalar network analyzers were a common tool used to characterize a network using only the magnitude of the signal. However, as network analysis technology matured, the development of digital components, such as analog-to-digital converters (ADCs), greatly simplified the design of vector network analyzers [10-12]. As a result, most modern VNAs are capable of measuring both scalar (magnitude) and vector (magnitude and phase) information about a signal.

I.3.1 Scalar network analyzer

Scalar network analyzers typically capture a broadband signal and convert it to DC or low frequency AC in order to measure the power of the signal. Examples of the hardware used to accomplish this include diodes and thermoelectric devices. The main advantage of scalar network analyzers is that the hardware required for down conversion and power detection is relatively simple and inexpensive. In addition, because the detectors are broadband devices, it is unnecessary to re-tune the receiver to measure power at a different frequency.

Thus, performing a frequency sweep is as simple as re-tuning the frequency of the microwave source and measuring the power at each frequency step [13]. Due to their relatively simple architecture, scalar network analyzers are capable of relatively fast frequency sweeps. Note that some scalar network analyzers simplify the hardware even further by removing the reference sensor. In these designs, however, a slightly more complicated measurement sequence is required. A simplified block diagram of a scalar network analyzer is shown in Fig. I-1.



Figure I-1: Simplified Scalar network analyzer block diagram

Scalar analyzers make transmission or insertion loss measurements by using a signal source that sweeps repetitively over the frequency range of interest. If the reference detector is not available, you can calculate the transmission coefficient as the power ratio of the transmitted signal with and without the device under test (DUT) in the signal path.

While scalar network analyzers have the benefit of simplicity of design, they are also prone to inherent challenges. For example, broadband detectors are susceptible to spurious tones and broadband noise. In addition, because the calibration is scalar in nature, it is not as accurate as full vector calibration. Due to their lack of selectivity, scalar network analyzers tend to have limited dynamic range compared to vector network analyzers.

I.4 Vector network analyzers

Vector network analyzers generally use full heterodyne receivers to measure both the phase and magnitude of signals and are often significantly more complex than scalar network analyzers. Measurements made with vector network analyzers are often more accurate, and the narrowband nature of the receivers provides better rejection of broadband noise and spurious tones, allowing for improved dynamic range. Furthermore, calibration can use more complex error models, which provide greater accuracy [15]. Due to the complexity of the heterodyne receiver architectures of

vector network analyzers, these instruments generally perform frequency sweeps more slowly than broadband scalar network analyzers. In addition, the added complexity often makes them more expensive.

The fundamental principle of a vector network analyzer is to measure the amplitude and phase of both incident and reflected waves at the various ports of the DUT. The general design of a VNA is to stimulate an RF network at a given port with a stepped or swept continuous wave (CW) signal and to measure the travelling waves, not only at the stimulus port but at all the ports of the network terminated with specific load impedances, typically 50 Ohms or 75 Ohms. Often, the device under test (DUT) is fabricated in a noncoaxial or waveguide medium and thus requires fixtures and additional cabling to enable an electrical connection to the VNA [16]. A typical but simplified VNA architecture is illustrated in Fig. I-5.



Figure I-2: Overall scheme for vector network analyzer

I.4.1 Measuring of S-parameters

The measurement of S parameters assumes a generator making it possible to send a signal on the device and to measure the signal reflected. This assumes that we are working with a reference impedance Z_0 to determine the reflection coefficient. In most applications, this reference impedance, also called access impedance, is equal to 50 Ω .



Figure I-3: Simplified operating principle of a vector network analyzer

The device is connected to the analyzer by high-quality radiofrequency cables over which the incident signal and the reflected signal propagate at the same time as shown in Fig. I-6. The measurement of S_1 parameters is based on the alternating application of signals a_1 and a_2 and the separation of the reflected signal from the incident signal at the coupler from the active access side, and the measurement of the signal transmitted from the other side [17]. The impedances of the different access points being equal to the reference impedance Z_0 , we measure the S parameters.

These measurements allow us to take losses and dispersal in the cables into account, as well as directivity defects in the couplers [18-19]. These corrections are made via stages of calibration prior to any measurement. Calibration of a vector network analyzer enables us to correct the various systematic errors due to the test system: losses and directivity defects in couplers and conversion losses in detectors.

I.4.2 SOLT calibration

The Short-Open-Load-Thru is the oldest, most used and widely adopted calibration technique. It has been developed for simple reflectometer VNAs assuming that forward and reverse measurements are made by independent setups [20-21]. The simplest form of calibration uses three loads: short circuit, open circuit, and 50 Ω load (SOLT: short, open, load, thru).

Standard calibrations are used to correct the effects of cables and vector network analyzer components in order to place reference planes in P_1 and P_2 .

In a vector analysis bench, we must correct the following various types of errors:

- Systematic errors: losses and directivity defects in couplers, detector conversion losses, signal frequency variations, etc.
- **4** Random errors: component noise, switcher and connection repetitiveness.
- Characteristic derivatives: thermal derivatives, contact aging, physical modification of cables, etc.



Figure I-4: Systematic errors in vector network analyzer

Although the location of the reference plane on VNA measurements is one factor that affects measurement results, VNAs are also subject to a range of inherent instrument impairments that can also be accounted for through calibration. In general, there are four main contributions to this imperfection.

The various errors in Fig. I-7 correspond to:

- \downarrow E_{DF}, E_{DR}: directivity;
- \downarrow E_{RF}, E_{RR}: reflection tracking;
- \downarrow E_{XF}, E_{XR}: isolation;

 \downarrow E_{LF}, E_{LR}: Load match;

F & R: forward and reverse respectively.

The sources of error listed above are often referred to as systematic sources of error because they systematically affect the measurement at all times [22]. The effects of systematic errors on a measurement result, shown in Fig. I-4, can largely be removed through calibration.

I.5 Self calibration methods

Network analyzer self-calibration procedures for the eight-term error model have been available for over 20 years [23-24]. The self calibration methods have been developed for double reflectometer VNAs as shown in Fig. I-3. As far as only one setup is considered, the model can be described by a unique flow chart where some terms in Fig. I-4 are equal (e.g $E_{SF} = E_{LR}$). A correction procedure is sometimes used to eliminate the switching errors due to a non-ideal source and load match. This, together with the isolation measurement, extends the eight-term model essentially to the 12-term error model.

The accuracy of network analyzers is enhanced by calibrating the setup at its measurement ports. Usually this is performed by applying the well-known 12-term procedure, employing the standards thru, match, short and open [25-26]. While the 12-term procedure depends only on fully known standards, there are some other methods in use allowing for partly unknown standards.

There are many self calibration techniques which differ by the kind of standards and the math adopted. They were introduced in as TSD (thru, short, delay), in as LRM (line, reflect, match) [27-28] and in as TRL (thru, reflect, line) [29]. They can be implemented in a double reflectometer as shown in as well as in other configurations.

Here the more common ones are presented and in particular those called:

- Thru-Reflect-Line
- Line-Reflect-Match
- Thru-Short-Delay

LRM is a particular case of TRL which has many characteristics as broad band performances and where the VNA reference impedance is set by the load.

I.5.1 TRL procedure

This technique uses a Thru which is typically either a direct connection between the ports, a longer Line and an unknown reflection standard [30-32].

The main characteristics of the TRL calibration are:

1. The propagation constant of the line is obtained as a by-product of the calibration.

2. The characteristic impedance of the line sets the reference impedance of the VNA.

3. The length difference between the line and the thru does not have to be a multiple of the wavelength.

This calibration makes it possible to place reference planes on a printed circuit using calibration components created by the user, compatible with the device being tested [33-36]. Calibration devices are shown in Fig. I-5.



Figure I-5: TRL calibration standards

The creation of the calibration components in Fig. I-5 must comply with the following rules:

- **4** Thru: the two access points are connected to one another by a line of length $La_1 + La_2$.
- Reflect: a printed circuit is created in which the lines are open at the level of the reference planes.
- Line: we need a line with an excess length ΔL on a frequency band. We can show that it must introduce a phase difference, different from $k\pi$, between the low frequency and the high frequency of the band. The minimum measurable phase difference is estimated at 15°, and the phase introduced by the line between access points between 15° and 165°, for a band ratio $F_{\text{max}}/F_{\text{min}} = 11$.

For all devices, the access points must be as reproducible as possible in order to minimize errors.

I.6 Industrial context

The development of interconnected devices and communication technologies has put on the market billions of RF semiconductor units. The modulation scheme complexity, always increasing to improve the data rate pushes the RF technology towards its limits in term of noise level or signal quality. Testing such parameters with the right accuracy is then becoming really challenging. Previous methods, only based on simple rules to design a clean RF load boards are not enough to keep the expected yield level. It is now required to have an accurate picture of all losses and distortions brought by the test fixture to the measurement. The challenge is here to be able to set the test limits with more accuracy, in order to clearly isolate the device performance from the test fixture influence.

I.6.1 Load board

For its measurement, a device under test (DUT) is embedded into a socket which is embedded in a measurement board. The measurement is performed using a vector network analyzer (VNA) at the outer accesses of the board after an appropriate calibration [37-38]. The de-embedding is a method which consists of removing the unwanted elements (the board and the socket) in order to reach the characteristics of the circuit itself as shown in Fig. I-6 below.





To make the de-embedding possible, a calibration is necessary. It consists of finding the right method to extract the parameters of the input and output accesses. We propose to define convenient elements that will be placed instead of the circuit. Many methods exist, but they use calibration circuits that are not compatible with the geometry of our equipment.

One of the most accurate and efficient method is TRL (Thru-Reflect-Line). The detailed analytical calculation is shown in **Appendix 1**. But the characteristic impedance of the line must be known. That means that we need to design the line on a well-known substrate with well-known geometry [39].

De-Embedding is a process that removes the effects of unwanted portions of the structure that are embedded in the measured data by subtracting their contribution. However, just as in an RF measurement, understanding of the inner workings of the process can sometimes allow you to design our circuits in such a way as to produce more accurate results or analyze our circuit more efficiently.

I.6.2 Device under test (DUT)

For control, DUTs are placed inside a test board. Measurement setups can collect the information between the input and output ports of the board. We must remove by calculation the parts of the board situated between the board ports and the DUT ports. This operation is called "de-embedding". It uses vector network analyzer measurements.

The measurement test board is described in Fig. I-7. It appears three two-ports: the input accesss (between P_0 and P_1), the output accesses (between P_2 and P_3) and the device under test itself (between P_1 and P_2). They can be described by their S-parameters (or other parameters).



Figure I-7: Overview two-port board

In order to get the total response of the system we will have to handle the S- parameters matrices. In order to simplify the task somewhat, it is convenient to use the T-parameters representation of the block. Therefore:

$$\mathbf{T}_{\text{measured}} = \mathbf{T}_{\text{IN}} * \mathbf{T}_{\text{DUT}} * \mathbf{T}_{\text{OUT}}$$
[I-1]

I.7 Conclusion

The calibration of two-port VNAs has greatly enhanced the measurement accuracy of microwave devices. In the following chapter we will show the analytical calculation of TRL calibration methodology and de-embedding technique, based on the eight-term error model of a two port vector network analyzer measurement system. Then eight error terms of fixtures are derived directly from the S parameters of the fabricated calibration standards measured from the coaxial reference plane.

To test our algorithm, first we use a load board with a socket be measured which is used normally in production to test thousands of devices between reference PCB board plane (RF coaxial connectors) within short period of time and an evaluation board with a soldered device and without socket to measure the device's behavior.

CHAPTER II

TRL CALIBRATION TECHNIQUE AND DE-EMBEDDING METHOD
II.1 Introduction

In measuring circuits at microwave frequencies, it is essential to access the DUT (Device Under Test) at a known reference plane, particularly when measuring devices whose characteristics are affected simultaneously by input and output impedances. A major problem encountered when using vector network analyzer to obtain the S-parameters of a DUT is the need to separate the errors of the fixtures, transmission lines etc... The S- parameters of those errors are consequently introduced into the measurement results as errors. To get the S parameters of DUTs, the effect of the errors should be removed [40-41].

Various calibration techniques are used to measure devices at microwave frequencies. One of those techniques using standards of a "thru" line, "reflect". TRL is one type in a family of two-port self-calibrations that better support on-wafer measurements and test fixtures.

The chapter is built around four main sections:

- The first section describes the methodology used to perform our new approach for TRL calibration.
- The second section presents in details the analytical calculations for achieving calibration and de-embedding for a single input/output device.
- ✤ The third section shows an extraction of device's behavior by our study.
- The final section discusses the final results of an applied example which by comparison with simulations confirm the studied done.

II.2 Methodology description for TRL calibration

We plan to use the TRL calculations in an original manner. As the TRL standards are not available in our technology, we design and fabricate specific standards that are inspired from TRL [42]. Each standard is previously characterized, either with an electromagnetic simulation or an on-wafer measurement.

The Thru-Reflect-Line (TRL) calibration algorithm and several of its' variants are frequently described as providing the best opportunity for the most accurate VNA measurements [43]. Foundations for this perspective are partially driven from the fact that, unlike with some calibration

algorithms (Short-Open-Load-Thru for example) the response of the calibration standards need not be known a priori. This allows the standards to be patterned in the same substrate and with the same launch transition behavior as the device under test (DUT).

II.2.1 Standards definition



Figure II-1: TRL calibration model

The creation of the calibration standards in Fig. II-1 must comply with the following rules:

4 Thru: Ideally, a zero length through line where the measurement ports are directly connected.

The S-matrix of thru is:

$$S = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
 [II-1]

Reflect: A highly reflective device (most often a short or open). The absolute reflection coefficient is derived from the additional standard measurement information, but knowledge of the electrical length must be within one-fourth wavelength to ensure proper identification of the standard.

It is important to use the identical reflection standards to calibrate both ports. If the phases of the reflection coefficients are equal, the reference planes are situated in the middle of the thru. A printed circuit can be created in which the lines are open at the level of the reference planes. For on-wafer measurement, the reflect may be obtained by lifted probes.

The S-matrix of reflect is:

$$\mathbf{S} = \begin{pmatrix} \Gamma & T \\ T & \Gamma \end{pmatrix}$$
[II-2]

Where $|T| \ll |\Gamma|$

Line: A nonzero length through line with the same intrinsic impedance as the through standard. The difference between the phase shifts of the line and thru standards require a minimum of 15 degrees to 165 degrees. It is not necessary to know the propagation constant because it is calculated from the extra measurement information. But the reference impedance is equal to the characteristic impedance of the line. It must be known before measurement (when it exists for TEM and quasi-TEM modes) if necessary by the use of an electromagnetic simulator.

The required phase relationship between the thru and line standards creates restrictions on the frequency span that can be measured with a given though and line combination. If a larger frequency span is needed, use multiple lines must be used.

The S-matrix of line is:

$$S = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & X \\ X & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
[II-3]

For an actual line $X = e^{-\varkappa}$



Figure II-2: Two-port measurement setup

Fig. II-2, describes the measurement setup. Planes P_0 and P_3 are the input and output ports of the board. A first full-two-port calibration is made between these planes (e.g. SOLT between SMA connectors). The two-port A and B represent respectively the input and output accesses of the board. P_1 and P_2 are the reference planes of the DUT. The DUT and the calibration elements are placed between P_1 and P_2 .

II.2.2 Calculation of the error terms

For a full analytical calculation about the TRL calibration and de-embedding method please refers to **appendix 1** at the end of manuscript. Generally, the calculation is presented with matrices handling [44]. The proposed calculation is completely analytical and can be easily introduced into a measurement software for fast quick operations.

The flow chart on the left handed side shows the system of errors terms distributed within the setup of two-port measurement. It is the 8-term error model which should have been described in chapter 1. While the right handed one corresponds to the S-parameters measured by the VNA between planes P_0 and P_3 .



Figure II-3: Distribution of system of errors within two-port network

II.3 DUT embedded within a PCB

For a TRL calibration between VNA reference ports, the input impedance of a planes P_1 and P_2 of the VNA are not matched. In our case we deal with corrected measurements after the SOLT calculation between the RF coaxial input/output connectors. The "corrected VNA" ports are matched.

In our case, we cannot have exact TRL standards. We must find a new method compatible with our facilities [45-47]. The De-embedding technique that we propose in our project, must extract the input and output error terms at the level of DUT i.e RF feed transmission lines effects, fixture

effects etc... and to shift the reference test planes from RF coaxial connectors till the position of pins where the device under test lies.

Fig. II-4& II-5 show the load board setup. The DUT is put in the middle of the test socket which is embedded into a board. P_1 and P_2 are defined in the middle of the socket, P_0 and P_3 are defined in the SMA connector reference planes.



Figure II-4: RF coaxial input/output ports



Figure II-5: Load board setup

We will design and fabricate standards that are not exactly TRL standards as shown in Fig. II-6.



Figure II-6: Examples of fabricated standards

The calibration standards have been chosen not too far from the TRL (thru-reflect-line) standards. But for our method, their S-parameters must be known. In a first approach, they have measured by on-wafer GS probes or simulated with an E.M simulator (e.g HFSS, CST). So, we know exactly what we put between planes P_1 and P_2 during the calibration.

II.4 Two-port board setup

The calibration standards placed between P_1 and P_2 are virtually split into three two-ports. In the middle, between the fictitious planes P'_1 and P'_2 , the theoretical TRL standards are placed as shown in Fig. II-7. That means that the two-ports A' and B' transform the actual calibration elements into TRL virtual standards.



Figure II-7: Reference plane's distribution for two-port board

We assume that each standard consists of an ideal TRL standard (between P'_1 and P'_2 in Fig. II.2) embedded into fictitious two-ports A' (between P_1 and P'_1) and B' (between P'_2 and P_2). That means that the two-ports A' and B' transform the actual calibration elements into TRL virtual standards.



Figure II-8: Identification of errors for a two-port board

Once the three calibration standards have been measured between P_1 and P_2 , the board including the elements is measured using the SOLT calibration between P_0 and P_3 . A TRL calculation gives the characteristics of A' and B'. The board including the elements is measured between P_3 and P_4 . Another TRL calculation gives the characteristic of AA' and B'B.

The characteristics of two-port A and B will be useful for the de-embedding. During the measurement itself, the DUT is placed between planes P_1 and P_2 . The measurement is made between P_0 and P_3 . Using transfer matrices, we have to remove A and B to reach the DUT parameters [48].

In the following, the "TRL" calibrations are simplified by:

- > They use calibrated measurement. After correction, the situation is like if $a_3=0$ for the forward measurements and $a_0=0$ for the reverse measurement.
- > All the two-ports are physically reciprocal passive. So, in the calculation of the error terms $e_{10}=e_{01}$ and $e_{32}=e_{23}$.

II.4.1 Calibration steps

📥 Step 1:

On-wafer GS calibration between P₁ and P₂ when necessary.

4 Step 2

On-wafer measurement between P_1 and P_2 with the three circuits between P_1 and P_2 .



Figure II-9: Planes configuration for a standard

TRL calculation giving e'_{ij} or electromagnetic simulation.



Figure II-10: Error terms in a standard

$$\mathbf{S}_{\mathbf{A}'} = \begin{pmatrix} e'_{00} & e'_{10} \\ e'_{10} & e'_{11} \end{pmatrix} \qquad \mathbf{S}_{\mathbf{B}'} = \begin{pmatrix} e'_{22} & e'_{32} \\ e'_{32} & e'_{33} \end{pmatrix}$$
[II-4]

$$\mathbf{T}_{\mathbf{A}'} = \begin{pmatrix} -\frac{e_{00}'e_{11}' - e_{10}'^2}{e_{10}'} & \frac{e_{00}'}{e_{10}'} \\ -\frac{e_{11}'}{e_{10}'} & \frac{1}{e_{10}'} \end{pmatrix} \qquad \mathbf{T}_{\mathbf{B}'} = \begin{pmatrix} -\frac{e_{22}'e_{33}' - e_{32}'^2}{e_{32}'} & \frac{e_{22}'}{e_{32}'} \\ -\frac{e_{32}'}{e_{32}'} & \frac{1}{e_{32}'} \end{pmatrix}$$
[II-5]

4 Step 3

Coaxial SOLT calibration between P₀ and P₃

\rm **Step 4**

Measurement between P_0 and P_3 with the three circuits between P_1 and P_2 .



Figure II-11: Planes configuration for a measurement setup

TRL calculation giving *e*''_{*ij*}.



Figure II-12: Distribution of error terms between RF coaxial connectors

$$\mathbf{S}_{\mathbf{A}\mathbf{A}'} = \begin{pmatrix} e_{00}'' & e_{10}'' \\ e_{10}'' & e_{11}'' \end{pmatrix} \qquad \qquad \mathbf{S}_{\mathbf{B}'\mathbf{B}} = \begin{pmatrix} e_{22}'' & e_{32}'' \\ e_{32}'' & e_{33}'' \\ e_{32}'' & e_{33}'' \end{pmatrix}$$
[II-6]

$$\mathbf{T}_{\mathbf{A}\mathbf{A}'} = \begin{pmatrix} -\frac{e_{00}'' e_{11}'' - e_{10}''^2}{e_{10}''} & \frac{e_{00}''}{e_{10}''} \\ -\frac{e_{11}''}{e_{10}''} & \frac{1}{e_{10}''} \end{pmatrix} \qquad \mathbf{T}_{\mathbf{B}'\mathbf{B}} = \begin{pmatrix} -\frac{e_{22}'' e_{33}'' - e_{32}''^2}{e_{32}''} & \frac{e_{22}''}{e_{32}''} \\ -\frac{e_{33}''}{e_{32}''} & \frac{1}{e_{32}''} \end{pmatrix}$$
[II-7]

4 Step 5

Extraction of the error model

$$T_A = T_{AA'} T_{A'}^{-1}$$
; $T_B = T_{B'}^{-1} T_{B'B}$ [II-8]

II.4.2 DUT measurements

Measurement between P_0 and P_3 with the DUT between P_1 and P_2 .

Measured S-parameters:

$$\mathbf{S}_{\mathbf{m}} = \begin{pmatrix} S_{m11} & S_{m12} \\ S_{m21} & S_{m22} \end{pmatrix}$$
[II-9]

$$\mathbf{T}_{\mathbf{m}} = \begin{pmatrix} -\frac{S_{m11}S_{m22} - S_{m12}S_{m21}}{S_{m21}} & \frac{S_{m11}}{S_{m21}} \\ -\frac{S_{m22}}{S_{m21}} & \frac{1}{S_{m21}} \end{pmatrix}$$
[II-10]

Extraction of device's parameters by de-embedding:

$$\mathbf{T} = \mathbf{T}_{\mathbf{A}}^{-1} \mathbf{T}_{\mathbf{m}} \mathbf{T}_{\mathbf{B}}^{-1}$$
[II-11]
$$\mathbf{S} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{T_{12}}{T_{22}} & \frac{T_{11}T_{22} - T_{12}T_{21}}{T_{22}} \\ \frac{1}{T_{22}} & -\frac{T_{21}}{T_{22}} \end{pmatrix}$$
[II-12]

II.5 First validation of the method

The measurements have been simulated using Keysight's ADS as shown in the configuration setup of Fig. II-13. The calibration standards are described in Fig. II-14.



Figure II-13: Simulated calibration setup



Figure II-14: Simulated standards

The steps of de-embedding that were described in previous section will be used to extract the system of errors again and compare it to the introduced or calculated ones.

- Step 1: calculate the virtual errors A' & B' from three calibrated elements.
- Step 2: calculate AA' & B'B from the measurements of three elements.
- Step 3: extract the error model A & B from previous system of errors (AA', B'B, A' & B').

$$T_{A} = T_{AA'} T_{A'}^{-1}$$
; $T_{B} = T_{B'}^{-1} T_{B'B}$ [II-13]

Fig. II-15, compares the introduced S-parameters A (in red) to the simulated ones (in blue).



Figure II-15: Simulated vs. Introduced S parameters of input board

Fig. II-16 till II-18 show the simulated vs. introduced for the three calibration standards (Thru, line and Reflect) respectively.



Figure II-16: Simulated vs. Introduced S parameters for Thru standard



Figure II-17: Simulated vs. Introduced S parameters for Line standard



Figure II-18: Simulated vs. Introduced S parameters for Reflect standard

By comparison we find that there is no differences during all over the band of frequency. The other parameters are in a very good agreement as far as the parasitic resonance does not appear for higher frequencies. Their differences are null and this confirms the validity of our analytical calculations for calibration technique and de-embedding method and also it shows that the method is applicable. This study will be applied on different devices as we will see in the following chapter.

II.6 Conclusion and Perspectives

In this Chapter, we have used a new approach for a TRL calibration technique and de-embedding method. The way that we use the technique show the validity of our approach. All the analytical calculations needed to apply to new approach have been shown.

An overview scheme for a full two-port board setup with the different steps needed to perform the calibration has been described. At the end of this chapter, an example has been studied to show the validation of the proposed study. Simulated vs. Introduced S-parameters for different calibration standards were compared and the results confirm the validity of this technique.

In the next chapters, this study will be applied on different types of devices. First on the following chapter where we are going to test an active MMIC device used for WLAN with different modes. Then on chapter 4 where we will give a further applications to this study where the device that we will investigate is a differential device.

CHAPTER III

MEASUREMENT METHODOLOGY AND

EXTRACTION RESULTS

III.1 Introduction

The design of passive circuits that are used in calibration step is a complex and very precise procedure in which many steps have to be carefully taken into account for a successful and efficient implementation in order to be fit within the test socket of a load board. In past years, a great number of substrate integrated circuits have been developed [49]. Our aim is to present a TRL calibration kit for device measurements, and to verify its validity for de-embedding the effect of the SMA connectors, transmission feeding lines, mismatch etc... An additional advantage of this calibration kit is that any designer or researcher can fabricate their own calibration kit with standard machinery for manufacturing planar circuits, so it is much cheaper than any other standard commercial calibration kits, which besides they can correct better the deviations due to the measurement circuit between the network analyzer itself and the SMA connectors [50].

To perform a TRL calibration, three standards have to be manufactured (so called TRL). These standards must help de-embed the errors from the measurements and shift the reference planes down to the pins of DUT. Once the standards have been manufactured, the procedure that has to be followed is that usual in TRL calibration. First, we define the calibration kit on a chip mechanically and electrically compatible with the device to measure. Then we measure the three standards of the calibration kit in their reference planes with a vector network analyzer.

Alternatively, when the on-wafer measurement facilities are not available, the standards may be simulated with a 2.5D or 3D electromagnetic simulator. The device is measured between the outer ports of the board after a coaxial calibration (e.g. an SOLT calibration between SMA ports). The calibration process itself consists of replacing the device by the three standards and calculating the figures useful for our de-embedding method calculation [51].

Chapter III is organized as follows. Paragraph III.2 presents a description about the device that undergoes test. Then, paragraph III.3 shows the design model of the calibration standards using a 3D e.m simulator HFSS and later on the fabricated ones. A fully e-m simulated experiment is proposed in paragraph III.4 and an example of HBT that had been measured. Then in paragraph 5, a measurements for the different calibration standards. Paragraph III.6 shows the measurements validation of a device with LNA and bypass mode. Paragraph III-7 shows the application for power measurements and finally, paragraph III.8 concludes chapter III.

III.2 Characteristics of a device that undergoes test

The device under test (DUT), is a manufactured product undergoing testing, either at first manufacture or later during its life cycle as part of ongoing functional testing and calibration checks. But during its life time, the DUT is soldered and cannot be included into the board. This can include a test after repair to establish that the product is performing in accordance with the original product specification.

Our device that undergoes test is a fully integrated RF front-end MMIC for WLAN. It includes a Low-Noise Amplifier, a TX Power Amplifier and an integrated power detector covering the entire ISM band. It has RX by-pass mode for high signal handling and low-power TX mode to optimize power efficiency of the PA for low-power levels.

Fig. III-1 below shows a pin configuration of the device to be tested.



Figure III-1: Pin's configuration of the tested device

Symbol	Pin	Description
ANT	1	Antenna in/out pin
Vco	2	C ₀ control pin
V _{C1}	3	C ₁ control pin
V _{CC1}	4	Supply voltage (LNA)
RX	5	RX output
ТХ	6	TX input
GND	7	Ground
Vcc2	8	Supply voltage (PA)
V _{CC3}	9	Supply voltage (PA)
V _{det}	10	Detection voltage
GND	Exposed die pad	Ground

Table III-1: Pin's description of DUT

Table III-1 shows a pin description of the device under test. It contains 10 pins numbered from one to ten and an exposed die pad for ground centered at the middle of the device. This device of body 2.0 mm x 1.7 mm x 0.35 mm must be introduced inside test socket of a test board as shown in Fig. III-2.



Figure III-2: Schema of the test board

III.3 Calibration standards: design model and fabrication

III.3.1 Design model

We have design the layouts of the calibration standards under the same restrictions as the device above and respecting all the tolerances given by the manufacturer. These designs are studied under two situations.

- First situation: three models of calibration standards which correspond to thru, line and reflect are situated between A (antenna) and R (receiver).
- Second situation: Another three models of calibration standards which correspond to thru, line and reflect are situated between T (transmitter) and A (antenna).

The name of each element has been chosen as follows:

- **4** First letter **T** for thru, **L** for line, **R** for reflect.
- 4 Second letter **A** for antenna.

 \blacksquare Third letter **R** for receiver and **T** for transmitter.



Fig. III-3 till III-5, show the layout of different calibration elements.



When we put the TAR or TAT between P_1 and P_2 , we consider that a thru is placed between P'_1 and P'_2 .



Figure III-4: Layout of a "Line" calibration element

When we put LAT or LAR between P_1 and P_2 , we consider that a line is placed between P'_1 and P'_2 .

$$\mathbf{S} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & X \\ X & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
[III-2]

The zeros for the reflection coefficients mean that the reference impedance between planes P_1 and P_2 is the characteristic impedance of the line standard.

In our case, the reference impedance is the reference impedance of the GS measurement (i.e. the load for SOLT or the characteristic impedance of the line for TRL). Here, the VNA was calibrated in TRL with an alumina calibration substrate [52]. That means that the reference impedance is 50 Ω .



Figure III-5: Layout of a "Reflect" calibration element

When we put RAT or RAR between P_1 and P_2 , we consider that reflects are placed in P'_1 and P'_2 .

$$\mathbf{S} = \begin{pmatrix} \Gamma & 0\\ 0 & \Gamma \end{pmatrix}$$
[III-3]

The common value for Γ means that the reference planes between P'₁ and P'₂ is placed in the middle of thru.

These circuits have been optimized using Keysight's HFSS 3D electromagnetic simulator. The shape and place of the ground has been carefully designed in order to allow GS probe measurements.

III.3.2 Calibration standards under fabrication

Fig. III-6 and III-7, show some photos under microscopic level for the fabricated calibration standards that will be used to perform TRL calibration.



Figure III-6: Top and Bottom view of "TAT" fabricated standard



Figure III-7: Top and Bottom view of "LAR" fabricated standard

The design of these standards has been done under some restrictions. One of these is the capability of testing those standards by GS probes and by replacing these standards by DUT under VNA tester. This double function enables us to extract the measurements of circuits alone in order to introduce their results in calibration process. The transmission of signal will be at the upper part of circuits which is shown by different transmission lines and the measurements using GS probes are done at the lower part which contains the signal and ground needed for such test [53].

III.4 E.M simulation validation

In this part we will use an on-wafer measured HBT transistor as a DUT and we cascade the two half parts of PCB that we have modeled using HFSS as input/output parts. The three design standards Thru, Line and reflect shown before from Fig. III-3 to III-5, will be used to perform the calibration process.

III.4.1 PCB model

The following figures show a PCB and three standards (Thru, Line and Reflect) which have been modeled and simulated by HFSS 3D electromagnetic software. Using ADS (Advanced Design System) we cascade the two halves of PCB by each standard and later HBT.



Figure III-8: HFSS PCB model

III.4.2 Use of E.M simulations for the calibration standards

It is not always possible to have a VNA equipment with a probe station and GS probes. In that case, it is necessary to be confident in electromagnetic simulation to know exactly what is put between planes P_1 and P_2 during the calibration process. Fig. III-9, compares the results for some standards using E.M simulation and GS probe measurements [54].



Figure III-9: S parameters of a "Thru" and "Ref" calibration standards

Red curves referred to the electromagnetic simulation results and the blue ones are for the GS probes measurement. The comparison of transmission coefficient $S_{21 dB}$ for a reference standard doesn't show any difference between the e.m simulated standard using HFSS and under GS probes.

While the slight difference shown in the phase study, is referred mainly to the position of the probes on the circuit, where our GS probes are lied on the tested circuit within two positions: 45 and 180 degrees according to the type of standard under test e.g (TAT, TAR etc...) which explains clearly the difference in phase.

III.4.3 Simulated measurements with an active two-port device

The simulation measurements are done between the RF coaxial connectors planes which they represent the input and output of the board P_3 and P_4 respectively.

The DUT (device under test) in our case here is HBT (heterojunction bipolar transistor) where it's placed at the level of pins of the socket P_1 and P_2 .



Figure III-10: Measured and calculated $S_{11 dB}$ of HBT



Figure III-11: Measured and calculated phase $S_{21 \text{ degree}}$ of HBT

Fig. III-10 and Fig. III-11, show the results of extracted and raw HBT for S_{11} in dB and S_{21} in phase respectively.

The results don't show any difference at the level of transmission and reflection coefficients. The measurements evaluate clearly the validity of our technique and its efficiency.

This technique will be applied on the device that had been described in paragraph III-2.

III.5 Calibration standards behavior

Different standards were modeled and tested as shown in section III.1. These standards will be measured first by GS probes and later they will be placed respectively inside socket of a test board (Fig. III-2) to be tested by a vector network analyzer between the outer coaxial planes.

III.5.1 Measuring of standards by GS probes

Fig. III-12, shows some photos for the standards under GS probes measurement. These photos were taken under macro and microscopic levels in order to show clearly the placement of probes at the right locations.





Figure III-12: Standards calibration under GS probes

The standards above are showing the probes in 180° & 45° face to face. These constraints are essential in order to meet the requirements of calibration of such DUT.



Figure III-13: S parameters of a "Thru" standard



Figure III-14: S parameters of a "Line" standard



Figure III-15: S parameters of a "Reflect" standard

Fig. III-13 to III-15, show the measurement results of the three fabricated calibration standards: Thru, Line and reflect respectively.

III.5.2 Verification of the calibration using standards

The calibration standards will be placed respectively inside the socket of the test board which shown in Fig. III-16.



Figure III-16: Test board with a socket

Fig. III-17 and III-18 show the comparison results between under three cases of study:

- **4** Calibration standards under GS probes (blue curves).
- **4** Calibration standards within test board (gray curves).
- **4** Extraction results of the standards after de-embedding (orange curves).



Figure III-17: "Thru" standard behavior in three cases



Figure III-18: "line" standard behavior in three cases

By comparing the standards with and without board (Gray and blue respectively), we could see clearly the difference at the level of magnitude and phase. The difference between the magnitudes correspond mainly to the losses which exist in the board. These losses have several origins (mismatch, coupling, resistance etc.). The phase due to the length of the PCB lines is compensated by the calibration. The remaining difference are due to the position of the pins on the chip.

De-embedding described in previous sections aim to reduce these errors or losses at the input and output of DUT after set of measurements which are used for calibration. Standard extracted (thru & Line) which are shown in Fig. III-10 & Fig. III-11, were deducted from the measurement of standards with board after controlled by de-embedding. By comparing those results to the ones with samples under GS probes, we can clarify easily that the importance of this technique is essential for extracting the behavior of samples within complex board. The confirmation of this technique has been proved clearly by comparing samples extracted with samples only (under probes). The difference is null and this confirms the importance of using this technique in extracting error terms in calibration.

III.6 Measurement: evaluation and validation

The de-embedding method developed in chapter 2 gives the S-parameters of a DUT between P_1 and P_2 when the actual measurements were made between P_0 and P_3 .

III.6.1 Board specification

To validate the measurement results and de-embedding technique, we must compare the result with direct measurement between P_1 and P_2 . For this purpose, we have used an evaluation board (EVB) as shown in Fig. III-20, this board contains a TRL calibration kit consisting of two microstrip lines 1A3 and E19 which corresponds to thru and line. The chip has been soldered on the board. That means that it cannot be used for a production test with tens of components every minute (see chapter 1).

The device that we will use in our measurements is the device described in paragraph III-2. This device will be tested and measured within two boards:

Load Board: where the device is laying inside the socket of the test board shown in Fig. III-13.

Evaluation Board: where the device is soldered in an evaluation board (EVB) shown in Fig. III-19.



Figure III-19: Evaluation board (EVB)

III.6.2 Measurements validation

Figures III-20 till III-22 below illustrate the behavior of a device under test in two modes: LNA (Low noise amplifier) and Bypass modes. The measurement study has been done under three cases:

- **4** Blue curves correspond to the DUT in evaluation board.
- ↓ Orange curves correspond to the extracted DUT by de-embedding
- **4** Green curves correspond to the DUT in test board



Figure III-20: S₂₁ dB for DUT in ByPass mode



Figure III-21: S₂₁ phase for DUT in ByPass mode

The calibration and de-embedding technique described in chapter II is applied on the measurements of the device with a test board in order to remove the errors within the board. The result of this extraction is presented in the figures above under the name de-emb in orange curves.



LNA (evaluation board) LNA(de-emb) LNA (test board)

Figure III-22: S₂₁ dB for DUT in LNA mode



Figure III-23: S₂₁ phase for DUT in LNA mode

The comparison between the de-embedded DUT (orange curves) and the measured one in a test board (green curves) shows a clear difference in the transmission level (dB and phase) for the two studied modes. The difference in the two curves corresponds mainly to the losses which are embedded within the test board. These losses have several origins (mismatch, coupling, resistance etc.) and they have been compensated well by calibration and de-embedding. To confirm the validity of the technique used, a result of measurements of an evaluation board (blue curves) for the same device will be compared with the de-embedded ones (orange curves). By comparison these two curves, we could see clearly that the results are quite the same. This validates that the study that had been done is sufficient for compensating the losses.

We can see on the S_{21} transmission in dB and phase that the correction of the access point, transmission lines and mismatch losses is corrected for all frequencies. Note that this technique is fairly general and makes it possible to correct the losses embedded within a PCB.

III.6.3 Parasitic coupling effects

Parasitic effects are becoming more critical with increasing requirements on performance, density, complexity, and levels of integration in RFIC designs. For radio frequency (RF) designs, parasitic effects such as IC package pin leakage and substrate coupling are now widely seen [55]. This leads to the need to model the parasitic networks in the areas of chip-package and substrate. The parasitic couplings are the effect of the pins and the leakage in the substrate. The coupling between the pins has been measured by removing the DUT from the board [56].

The measured parameters allow to calculate the admittance matrix $\mathbf{Y}_{\mathbf{P}}$ which represents a picircuit describing the parasitic coupling between the pins (Fig. III-24).



Figure III-24: Pi-circuit model

An RLCG equivalent circuit is derived from Z or Y-parameters. Y-parameters are convenient if we want to model our circuit under test with elements in a pi topology (one component across, and two in shunt). Z-parameters are convenient when we want to model the circuit with a T type of topology (two components in series with a shunt element between them) [57].

Each branch of the π or T equivalent topology is represented by an admittance or by an impedance, noted in *Yparameters* or *Zparameters* respectively. Each impedance in the picircuit can be considered as a resistance in parallel with a capacitance [58].

The value of each is described below:

$$R_1 = \frac{1}{\operatorname{Re}(Y_{11} + Y_{21})}$$
; $R_2 = \frac{1}{\operatorname{Re}(Y_{22} + Y_{21})}$; $R_3 = \frac{-1}{\operatorname{Re}(Y_{21})}$ [III-4]

$$C_1 = \frac{\operatorname{Im}(Y_{11} + Y_{21})}{\omega}$$
; $C_2 = \frac{\operatorname{Im}(Y_{22} + Y_{21})}{\omega}$; $C_3 = \frac{-\operatorname{Im}(Y_{21})}{\omega}$ [III-5]



Figure III-25: Capacitance



Figure III-26: Conductance

As we could see in Fig. III-25 and III-26, the capacitance and conductance is very small which show that reflect is almost unilateral and also that the coupling between the input and output parts of the board is negligible.

III.7 Applications to power measurements

The power gain of an electrical network is the ratio of an output power to an input power. Unlike other signal gains, such as voltage and current gain, "power gain" may be ambiguous as the meaning of terms "input power" and "output power" is not always clear. Three important power gains are operating power gain, transducer power gain and available power gain [59].

Note that all these definitions of power gains employ the use of average (as opposed to instantaneous) power quantities and therefore the term "average" is often suppressed, which can be confusing at occasions.

III.7.1 Available power gain

The available power that the two-port could transfer to the conjugate of its output impedance (Γ_{OUT}) divided by the available power that the source could transfer to the conjugate of its Thevenin impedance.

It's useful for noise measurement study [60].

$$G_{a} = \frac{|S_{21}|^{2} (1 - |\Gamma_{s}|^{2})}{(1 - |\Gamma_{OUT}|^{2}) (1 - S_{11} \Gamma_{s})^{2}}$$
[III-6]

With:

$$\Gamma_{OUT} = S_{22} + \frac{S_{12}S_{21}\Gamma_S}{1 - S_{11}\Gamma_S}$$
 and $\Gamma_S = 0$ [III-7]

In Fig. III-27, the available power gain at input and output parts correspond to pink and light blue color respectively.


Figure III-27: Available power gain

III.7.2 Insertion power gain

It's defined as the signal power loss introduced by the RF switch between the input port and the output port in its on-state. It's measured by inserting the DUT between a generator and a load. The numerator of the ratio is the power delivered to the load while the DUT is inserted. The denominator, or reference power, is the power delivered to the load while the source is directly connected.



Figure III-28: Insertion power gain

[III-8]

In Fig. III-28, the insertion power gain at input and output parts correspond to pink and light blue color respectively.

III.7.3 Operating power gain

The power that is transferred from the two-port output to the load Γ_L divided by the power that is transferred from the source to the two-port input. It can be written in terms of the two-port s-parameters and the load reflection coefficient.

$$G = \frac{|S_{21}|^2 (1 - |\Gamma_L|^2)}{(1 - |\Gamma_{IN}|^2) |1 - S_{22} \Gamma_L|^2}$$
[III-9]

With:

$$\Gamma_{IN} = S_{11} + \frac{S_{12}S_{21}\Gamma_L}{1 - S_{22}\Gamma_L}$$
 and $\Gamma_L = 0$ [III-10]



Figure III-29: Operating power gain

In Fig. III-29, the operating power gain at input and output parts correspond to pink and light blue color respectively.

III.7.4 Transducer gain

The power that is transferred from the two-port output to the load Γ_L divided by the available power that the source could transfer to the conjugate of its Thevenin impedance (reflection coefficient Γ_{IN}).

$$G_{T} = \frac{|S_{21}|^{2} (1 - |\Gamma_{L}|^{2}) (1 - |\Gamma_{S}|^{2})}{|1 - \Gamma_{IN} \Gamma_{S}|^{2} |1 - S_{22} \Gamma_{L}|^{2}}$$
[III-11]

With

$$\Gamma_{IN} = S_{11} + \frac{S_{12}S_{21}\Gamma_L}{1 - S_{22}\Gamma_L}$$
[III-12]

And $\Gamma_S = 0$ and $\Gamma_L = 0$, the result is the same like the insertion gain because we take into consideration that the input and output of DUT are matched.

III.8 Conclusion and Perspectives

The measurement of S parameters enable characterization in terms of the reflection and transmission of a signal in a printed circuits board (PCB), however, requires calibration and deembedding techniques that must be put in place in order to correct defects related to the device and measurement cabling.

Our method is fully compatible with on-wafer and a device within a board. It provides directly the S-parameters in the device reference planes. In some cases, where a calibration is not directly possible in the DUT reference planes, the device accesses need to be characterized and modeled. In many applications, components are mounted on a PCB that holds power supply circuits, control circuits and lines for RF or high-speed signals. To measure these components, specific techniques make it possible to correct the effects of connection lines (losses, mismatching, etc.).

The purpose of de-embedding is to calculate the S parameters of a component based on measurements of an overall measurement of the component mounted on PCB with access lines of and on knowledge of the equivalent access line propagation parameters. This requires either a prior measurement of the S parameters of the access lines, or a measurement of the overall access line (without the component).

CHAPTER IV

MULTI-PORT TRL CALIBRATION FOR

DIFFERENTIAL DEVICES

IV.1 Introduction

More and more circuits in telecommunication technologies are differential structures. This simplifies the design of RF functions and helps to the parasitic frequencies rejection. Measurement methods developed particularly for these differential circuits will reduce characterization time and increase accuracy. A differential circuit with at least three ports (two inputs and one output) demands multi-port tests. In addition, multi-port measurement is also required to determine mutual coupling between differential interconnections which influences significantly package performance due to the trend of increasing operation frequency, and signal density. Before an RF measurement, a calibration must be done. The algorithm developed in the recent publications such as [61] allows rigorous mixed modes measurement. However their main drawback is so complex and often with many assumptions.

TRL (Thru-Reflect-Line) is one of the most popular methods because it places the reference planes at the input and output of the DUT directly on the wafer. It assumes that the characteristic impedance is clearly defined for each line standard. When the accesses are constituted by coupled lines, the propagation constants and the characteristic impedances of the quasi-TEM *c* and π modes are defined [62]. For symmetric access lines, that means that the propagation constants and the characteristic impedances, so called mixed modes. When the waveguides are not homogeneous (e.g. micro-strip or coplanar waveguide) these propagation constants and characteristic impedances are different each from the other. Actually, the TRL calibration allow S-parameters measurement [63]. We must keep in mind that S-parameters are defined for propagation modes and not for voltages and currents. This means that the classical 4 port TRL de-embedding is not valid. The mixed mode de-embedding process is more rigorous. When there is no coupling between the access lines or when the mixed modes are quasi-TEM, the propagation constants and the characteristic impedances are equal. In that case, it is possible to consider the natural "modes" for the description of the DUT.

This is organized as follows. Paragraph IV.2 presents the TRL mixed-mode de-embedding method. Paragraph IV.3 describes the transformation matrix calculations for differential input and single output device. In paragraph IV.4, a full study for double TRL calibration process for a differential device and later in paragraph IV.5, the circuit simulation schemes and the extraction results. Finally in paragraph IV.6, a general conclusion and perspectives.

IV.2 TRL mixed mode de-embedding method

In this paragraph, we describe a mixed mode TRL de-embedding method. The first part reminds the essential notions on natural and mixed modes, and the transformation between them. Then in the second part, the error model is proposed and the calculation of the error terms is detailed [64]. The third part will present the experiment to verify the method with some line structures realized based on glass substrate. The final part will conclude the method.

IV.2.1 Natural modes

The natural "modes" are defined from voltages and currents. There are not real modes because they do not correspond to eigen solution of the propagation equation [65].

For Port *i*, the power waves a_i and b_i are defined by:

$$a_i = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{V_i}{\sqrt{Z_i}} + I_i \sqrt{Z_i} \right)$$
 [IV-1]

$$b_i = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{V_i}{\sqrt{Z_i}} - I_i \sqrt{Z_i} \right)$$
 [IV-2]

The corresponding natural *S* and *T* parameters of a four-port structure shown in Figure IV-1 are defined by Eq. (IV-1) and (IV-2).



Figure IV-1: four-port structure

S parameters represent the relation between reflected and incident power waves.

$$\begin{pmatrix} b_1 \\ b_2 \\ b_3 \\ b_4 \end{pmatrix} = (\mathbf{Sm}) \begin{pmatrix} a_1 \\ a_2 \\ a_3 \\ a_4 \end{pmatrix}$$
 [IV-3]

T parameters describe the relation between input and output power waves.

$$\begin{pmatrix} b_1 \\ b_2 \\ a_1 \\ a_2 \end{pmatrix} = \mathbf{T} \begin{pmatrix} a_3 \\ a_4 \\ b_3 \\ b_4 \end{pmatrix}$$
 [IV-4]

Where a_i , b_i are the incident and reflected power waves for port *i* (*i* = 1, 2, 3, 4) respectively [66].

The natural *S* parameters can be determined from measurement or EM simulation. If we put together 4 measurement results in matrix form, we have:

$$\begin{pmatrix} b_1^{(1)} & b_1^{(2)} & b_1^{(3)} & b_1^{(4)} \\ b_2^{(1)} & b_2^{(2)} & b_2^{(3)} & b_2^{(4)} \\ b_3^{(1)} & b_3^{(2)} & b_3^{(3)} & b_3^{(4)} \\ b_4^{(1)} & b_4^{(2)} & b_4^{(3)} & b_4^{(4)} \end{pmatrix} = \mathbf{S}_{\mathbf{m}} \begin{pmatrix} a_1^{(1)} & a_1^{(2)} & a_1^{(3)} & a_1^{(4)} \\ a_2^{(1)} & a_2^{(2)} & a_2^{(3)} & a_2^{(4)} \\ a_3^{(1)} & a_3^{(2)} & a_3^{(3)} & a_3^{(4)} \\ a_4^{(1)} & a_4^{(2)} & a_4^{(3)} & a_4^{(4)} \end{pmatrix}$$
[IV-5]

Where the superscript ⁽ⁱ⁾ means the *i*th measurement configuration (i = 1, 2, 3, 4) in which the source generates $ai^{(i)}$; the others $aj^{(i)}$ ($j \neq i$ and j = 1, 2, 3, 4) being very weak.

$$\begin{pmatrix} b_1^{(i)} \\ b_2^{(i)} \\ b_3^{(i)} \\ b_4^{(i)} \end{pmatrix} = \mathbf{S}_{\mathbf{m}} \begin{pmatrix} a_1^{(i)} \\ a_2^{(i)} \\ a_3^{(i)} \\ a_4^{(i)} \\ a_4^{(i)} \end{pmatrix}$$
[IV-6]

Thus:

$$\mathbf{S}_{\mathbf{m}} = \begin{pmatrix} b_{1}^{(1)} & b_{1}^{(2)} & b_{1}^{(3)} & b_{1}^{(4)} \\ b_{2}^{(1)} & b_{2}^{(2)} & b_{2}^{(3)} & b_{2}^{(4)} \\ b_{3}^{(1)} & b_{3}^{(2)} & b_{3}^{(3)} & b_{3}^{(4)} \\ b_{4}^{(1)} & b_{4}^{(2)} & b_{4}^{(3)} & b_{4}^{(4)} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} a_{1}^{(1)} & a_{1}^{(2)} & a_{1}^{(3)} & a_{1}^{(4)} \\ a_{2}^{(1)} & a_{2}^{(2)} & a_{2}^{(3)} & a_{2}^{(4)} \\ a_{3}^{(1)} & a_{3}^{(2)} & a_{3}^{(3)} & a_{3}^{(4)} \\ a_{4}^{(1)} & a_{4}^{(2)} & a_{4}^{(3)} & a_{4}^{(4)} \end{pmatrix}^{-1}$$
[IV-7]

IV.2.2 Mixed modes

Let us take a symmetrical tee as an example:



Figure IV-2: Symmetrical tee

✤ The differential mode is defined as:



Figure IV-3: Differential mode

$$V_{d} = V_{1} - V_{2}$$
 $I_{d} = I_{1} = -I_{2}$ [IV-8]

The input impedance for the differential mode is:

$$Z_{d} = \frac{V_{d}}{I_{d}} = Z_{1} + Z_{2} = Z_{11} + Z_{22} - 2Z_{12}$$
 [IV-9]

✤ The common mode is defined as:



Figure IV-4: Common mode

$$V_{c} = V_{1} = V_{2}$$
 $I_{c} = I_{1} + I_{2}$ [IV-10]

The input impedance for the common mode is: $Z_c = \frac{V_c}{I_c} = (Z_1 / / Z_2) + Z_3$ [IV-11]

$$Z_{c} = \frac{(Z_{11} - Z_{12})(Z_{22} - Z_{12})}{Z_{11} + Z_{22} - 2Z_{12}} + Z_{12}$$
[IV-12]

In general:

$$V_{d} = V_{1} - V_{2}; \quad I_{d} = \frac{I_{1} - I_{2}}{2}; \quad V_{c} = \frac{V_{1} + V_{2}}{2}; \quad I_{c} = I_{1} + I_{2}$$
 [IV-13]

Reciprocally:

$$V_{1} = \frac{2V_{c} + V_{d}}{2} \quad ; \quad V_{2} = \frac{2V_{c} - V_{d}}{2} \quad ; \quad I_{1} = \frac{I_{c} + 2I_{d}}{2} \quad ; \quad I_{2} = \frac{I_{c} - 2I_{d}}{2} \quad [\text{IV-14}]$$

IV.2.3 In terms of power waves

Let us consider symmetrical a propagation structure in a TEM mode. A forward wave can be represented by the voltage and the current in each conductor (V_1 , V_2 , I_1 , I_2). If there is no coupling:

$$\frac{V_{1}}{I_{1}} = \frac{V_{2}}{I_{2}} = Z_{0}$$
 [IV-15]

In terms of power waves:

$$V_1 = a_1 \sqrt{Z_0}$$
; $I_1 = \frac{a_1}{\sqrt{Z_0}}$; $V_2 = a_2 \sqrt{Z_0}$; $I_2 = \frac{a_2}{\sqrt{Z_0}}$ [IV-16]

The travelling power for the differential mode if Z_0 is real is:

$$P_{d} = \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Re}(V_{d}I_{d}^{*}) = \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Re}\left(\frac{(V_{1} - V_{2})(I_{1} - I_{2})^{*}}{2}\right) = \frac{1}{2} \frac{|a_{1} - a_{2}|^{2}}{2} = \frac{1}{2} |a_{d}|^{2}$$
[IV-17]

So:

$$a_{d} = \frac{a_{1} - a_{2}}{\sqrt{2}}$$
 [IV-18]

The travelling power for the common mode if Z_0 is real is:

$$P_{c} = \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Re}(V_{c}I_{c}^{*}) = \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Re}\left(\frac{(V_{1} + V_{2})(I_{1} + I_{2})^{*}}{2}\right) = \frac{1}{2} \frac{|a_{1} + a_{2}|^{2}}{2} = \frac{1}{2} |a_{c}|^{2}$$
[IV-19]

So:

$$a_{c} = \frac{a_{1} + a_{2}}{\sqrt{2}}$$
 [IV-20]

Reciprocally:

$$a_{1} = \frac{a_{c} + a_{d}}{\sqrt{2}}$$
; $a_{2} = \frac{a_{c} - a_{d}}{\sqrt{2}}$ [IV-21]

IV.2.4 Characteristic Impedance for non-coupled lines

• Differential mode:

$$V_{d} = V_{1} - V_{2} = (a_{1} - a_{2})\sqrt{Z_{0}} = a_{d}\sqrt{Z_{d}}$$
 [IV-22]

$$a_{d}\sqrt{2}\sqrt{Z_{0}} = a_{d}\sqrt{Z_{d}}$$
 [IV-23]

$$Z_{d} = 2Z_{0} \qquad [IV-24]$$

 \circ Common mode:

$$V_{c} = \frac{V_{1} + V_{2}}{2} = \frac{a_{1} + a_{2}}{2} \sqrt{Z_{0}} = a_{c} \sqrt{Z_{c}}$$
[IV-25]

$$\frac{a_c\sqrt{2}}{2}\sqrt{Z_0} = a_c\sqrt{Z_c} \qquad [IV-26]$$

$$Z_{c} = \frac{Z_{0}}{2}$$
 [IV-27]

IV.2.5 S-matrix transformation between natural and mixed modes

For natural mode:

$$\begin{pmatrix} b_1 \\ b_2 \\ b_3 \\ b_4 \end{pmatrix} = \left(\mathbf{S}_{\mathbf{nat}} \begin{pmatrix} a_1 \\ a_2 \\ a_3 \\ a_4 \end{pmatrix} \quad \text{or} : \quad \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & -1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} b_{d1} \\ b_{d2} \\ b_{c1} \\ b_{c2} \end{pmatrix} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(\mathbf{S}_{\mathbf{nat}} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & -1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} a_{d1} \\ a_{d2} \\ a_{c1} \\ a_{c2} \end{pmatrix}$$
 [IV-28]

The transformation matrix is:

$$(\mathbf{S}_{\mathbf{mix}}) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & -1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}^{-1} (\mathbf{S}_{\mathbf{nat}}) \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & -1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & -1 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & -1 \end{pmatrix} (\mathbf{S}_{\mathbf{nat}}) \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & -1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}$$
[IV-29]

IV.3 Differential input and single output device

The input part of the board has a single input and a differential output by the use of Balun [67].

IV.3.1 S-matrix transformation

(

Single Input/ Differential Output

$$\begin{pmatrix} b_{1} \\ b_{2} \\ b_{3} \end{pmatrix} = (\mathbf{S}_{nat}) \begin{pmatrix} a_{1} \\ a_{2} \\ a_{3} \end{pmatrix} \text{ or } \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} & \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \\ 0 & -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} & \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \\ 0 & -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} & \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} b_{1} \\ b_{d} \\ b_{c} \end{pmatrix} = (\mathbf{S}_{nat}) \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} & \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \\ 0 & -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} & \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \\ 0 & -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} & \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \end{pmatrix}$$
 [IV-30]

$$(\mathbf{S}_{\mathrm{mix}}) = \begin{vmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} & \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \\ 0 & -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} & \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \end{vmatrix} \quad (\mathbf{S}_{\mathrm{nat}}) \begin{vmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} & \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \\ 0 & -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} & \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \end{vmatrix} = \begin{vmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} & -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \\ 0 & \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} & -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \\ 0 & \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} & \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \end{vmatrix} (\mathbf{S}_{\mathrm{nat}}) \begin{vmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} & \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \\ 0 & -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} & \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \end{vmatrix}$$
[IV-31]

$$(\mathbf{S_{mix}}) = \begin{pmatrix} S_{11} & \frac{S_{12} - S_{13}}{\sqrt{2}} & \frac{S_{12} + S_{13}}{\sqrt{2}} \\ \frac{S_{21} - S_{31}}{\sqrt{2}} & \frac{S_{22} - S_{32} - S_{23} + S_{33}}{2} & \frac{S_{22} - S_{32} + S_{23} - S_{33}}{2} \\ \frac{S_{21} + S_{31}}{\sqrt{2}} & \frac{S_{22} + S_{32} - S_{23} - S_{33}}{2} & \frac{S_{22} + S_{32} + S_{23} + S_{33}}{2} \end{pmatrix}$$
[IV-32]

Differential Input/ Single Output

$$(\mathbf{S_{mix}}) = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{S_{11} - S_{21} - S_{12} + S_{22}}{2} & \frac{S_{11} - S_{21} + S_{12} - S_{22}}{2} & \frac{S_{13} - S_{23}}{\sqrt{2}} \\ \frac{S_{11} + S_{21} - S_{12} - S_{22}}{2} & \frac{S_{11} + S_{21} + S_{12} + S_{22}}{2} & \frac{S_{13} + S_{23}}{\sqrt{2}} \\ \frac{S_{31} - S_{32}}{2} & \frac{S_{31} + S_{32}}{2} & S_{33} \end{pmatrix}$$
[IV-33]

IV.3.2 Z-matrix transformation for a single input and differential output

Single input P_0 . Differential output P_1 and P_2 or P_d and P_c

$$V_1 = \frac{1}{2}V_d + V_c \; ; \; V_2 = -\frac{1}{2}V_d + V_c \; ; \; I_1 = I_d + \frac{1}{2}I_c \; ; \; I_2 = -I_d + \frac{1}{2}I_c \qquad [\text{IV-34}]$$

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{1}{2} & 1 \\ 0 & -\frac{1}{2} & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} V_0 \\ V_d \\ V_c \end{pmatrix} = (\mathbf{Z_{nat}}) \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & \frac{1}{2} \\ 0 & -1 & \frac{1}{2} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} I_0 \\ I_d \\ I_c \end{pmatrix}$$
[IV-35]

$$(\mathbf{Z}_{\mathbf{mix}}) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{1}{2} & 1 \\ 0 & -\frac{1}{2} & 1 \end{pmatrix}^{-1} (\mathbf{Z}_{\mathbf{nat}}) \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & \frac{1}{2} \\ 0 & -1 & \frac{1}{2} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & -1 \\ 0 & \frac{1}{2} & \frac{1}{2} \end{pmatrix} (\mathbf{Z}_{\mathbf{nat}}) \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & \frac{1}{2} \\ 0 & -1 & \frac{1}{2} \end{pmatrix} [IV-36]$$

$$(\mathbf{Z_{mix}}) = \begin{pmatrix} Z_{00} & Z_{01} - Z_{02} & \frac{Z_{01} + Z_{02}}{2} \\ Z_{10} - Z_{20} & Z_{11} - Z_{21} - Z_{12} + Z_{22} & \frac{Z_{11} - Z_{21} + Z_{12} - Z_{22}}{2} \\ \frac{Z_{10} + Z_{20}}{2} & \frac{Z_{11} + Z_{21} - Z_{12} - Z_{22}}{2} & \frac{Z_{11} + Z_{21} + Z_{12} + Z_{22}}{4} \end{pmatrix} [IV-37]$$

The normalized matrix with regard to Z_0 for Port 1, Z_d for differential and Z_c for common is

$$(\mathbf{z_{mix}}) = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{Z_{00}}{Z_0} & \frac{Z_{01} - Z_{02}}{\sqrt{Z_0 Z_d}} & \frac{Z_{01} + Z_{02}}{2\sqrt{Z_0 Z_c}} \\ \frac{Z_{10} - Z_{20}}{\sqrt{Z_0 Z_d}} & \frac{Z_{11} - Z_{21} - Z_{12} + Z_{22}}{Z_d} & \frac{Z_{11} - Z_{21} + Z_{12} - Z_{22}}{2\sqrt{Z_d Z_c}} \\ \frac{Z_{10} + Z_{20}}{2\sqrt{Z_0 Z_c}} & \frac{Z_{11} + Z_{21} - Z_{12} - Z_{22}}{2\sqrt{Z_d Z_c}} & \frac{Z_{11} + Z_{21} + Z_{12} + Z_{22}}{4Z_c} \end{pmatrix}$$
 [IV-39]

With non-coupled lines:

$$Z_d = 2Z_0$$
 and $Z_c = \frac{1}{2}Z_0$ [IV-38]

IV.4 TRL calibration process

IV.4.1 First TRL between P₁ and P₃ using Thru1, Line1 and Reflect

Accesses 0 and 4 are the accesses we have performed a calibration. It could be an SOLT calibration between coaxial connectors. For the e-m simulation, it is the plane where the S-parameters are calculated, e.g. the end of the CPW on the board. [68]

The input three-port consists of the CPW on the board, the balun and the pins. The output twoport consists of the CPW on the board and the pins.

The first TRL calibration applies to the figure above. The thru is THRU1. This means that the reference plane is situated in the middle of the thru. The line is LINE 1. The REFLECT consists of leaving pins of access 1 open. That means that a reflection coefficient Γ is presented at access 1. Γ is a line ended by the capacitance of the pins.

The length of the line is the distance between the pins and the reference plane. It must be the reflection coefficient that is presented to access 2. The three-port with its access 2 terminated by Γ is considered as the input two-port by the TRL process. Where the standards were measured under 50 ohm GS probes.



Figure IV-5: First step of TRL process

The TRL calculation gives:

For A:
$$\begin{pmatrix} e_{00}^{(1)} & e_{10}^{(1)} \\ e_{10}^{(1)} & e_{11}^{(1)} \end{pmatrix}$$
 [IV-40]

For B:
$$\begin{pmatrix} e_{33} & e_{43} \\ e_{43} & e_{44} \end{pmatrix}$$
 [IV-41]

They can be transformed into de-normalized Z-matrices.

As Port 2 is open, we obtain the corresponding Z-parameters de-normalized of the input three-port:

$$\begin{pmatrix} Z_{00} & Z_{10} \\ Z_{10} & Z_{11} \end{pmatrix}$$
 [IV-42]

IV.4.2 Second TRL between P₂ and P₃ using Thru2, Line2 and Reflect

The second TRL calibration is based upon the same idea.



Figure IV-6: Second step of TRL process

The TRL calculation gives:

For A:
$$\begin{pmatrix} e_{00}^{(2)} & e_{20}^{(2)} \\ e_{20}^{(2)} & e_{22}^{(2)} \end{pmatrix}$$
 [IV-43]

For B:
$$\begin{pmatrix} e_{33} & e_{43} \\ e_{43} & e_{44} \end{pmatrix}$$
 [IV-44]

They can be transformed into de-normalized Z-matrices.

As Port 1 is open, we obtain the corresponding Z-parameters de-normalized of the input threeport:

$$\begin{pmatrix} Z_{00} & Z_{20} \\ Z_{20} & Z_{22} \end{pmatrix}$$
 [IV-45]

Only Z_{21} is missing:

$$(\mathbf{Z}_{\mathbf{A}}) = \begin{pmatrix} Z_{00} & Z_{10} & Z_{20} \\ Z_{10} & Z_{11} & ? \\ Z_{20} & ? & Z_{22} \end{pmatrix}$$
[IV-46]

IV.4.3 Determination of Z₂₁

It is not possible to reach Z_{21} with the two TRL operations. So, we need another one. We propose to connect Ports 1 and 2 and measure the impedance at Port 0.



Figure IV-7: Third step of TRL process

The matrix development for a reciprocal three-port is

$$\begin{cases} V_0 = Z_{00}I_0 + Z_{10}I_1 + Z_{20}I_2 \\ V_1 = Z_{10}I_0 + Z_{11}I_1 + Z_{21}I_2 \\ V_2 = Z_{20}I_0 + Z_{21}I_1 + Z_{22}I_2 \end{cases}$$
[IV-47]

The conditions of the circuit are:

$$I_1 = -I_2$$
 ; $V_1 - V_2 = \Gamma_L I_2$ [IV-48]

From the last two lines of the matrix:

$$I_2 = \frac{Z_{10} - Z_{20}}{Z_{11} - 2Z_{21} - Z_{22} - Z_L} I_0$$
 [IV-49]

$$I_1 = \frac{Z_{20} - Z_{10}}{Z_{11} - 2Z_{21} - Z_{22} - Z_L} I_0$$
 [IV-50]

Reporting into the first line:

$$Z_{IN} = \frac{V_0}{I_0} = Z_{00} - \frac{(Z_{20} - Z_{10})^2}{Z_{11} - 2Z_{21} - Z_{22} - Z_L}$$
[IV-51]

With:

$$Z_{IN} = Z_0 \frac{1 + S_{00}}{1 - S_{00}}$$
[IV-52]

 S_{00} is the reflection coefficient measured at the input of the three-port A.

$$Z_{21} = \frac{Z_{11} - Z_{22} - Z_L}{2} - \frac{(Z_{20} - Z_{10})^2}{2(Z_{00} - Z_{IN})}$$
[IV-53]

For the simulation, we can describe the connection between Port 1 and Port 2 by a resistance in series with an inductance.



Figure IV-8: Ports behavior

IV.5 Circuit simulation using ADS

For the simulated calibration, we can use the following ideal balun. The frequency for the phase shift is the central frequency of the operating bandwidth and the differential impedance is equal to 50Ω [69].

IV.5.1 Input/Output parts of PCB

Fig. IV-9 and IV-10, show the input and output parts of PCB respectively. The input A with a single input and differential output is a three-port network consists of the CPW on the board, the balun and the pins. The output B with a single input and output is a two-port network consists of the CPW on the board and the pins.



Figure IV-10: Output part B of the PCB

Fig. IV-11 and IV-12, correspond to the initial simulated parameters of the input A (S_{inA} in red) and to the output part B (S_{inB} in blue) respectively.



Figure IV-11: Simulation results of initial parameters of the input part of the board A



Figure IV-12: Simulation results of initial parameters of the output part of the board B

IV.5.2 Standards description with ADS elements

In this subparagraph, the three calibration standards (Thru, Line and Reflect) will be simulated by ADS respectively. The standards were measured under 50 ohm GS probes.

For the calibration process, it's important to know the behavior of the standards, because there measurement results will be used to perform the TRL. Here below are the circuit simulation schemes which correspond to the three calibration standards.



Figure IV-13: "Thru" standard



Figure IV-14: "Line" standard



Figure IV-15: "Reflect" standard

IV.5.3 Double TRL calibration and determination of Z₂₁

For a differential device, a double TRL calibration process is needed. All the steps to perform this study were described and illustrated in IV.4. The following three figures refer to the first TRL process which consists of Thru1, Line 1 and reflect 1.

In the first TRL process, accesses 1 and 3 are connected and access 2 leaves open. Whereas the second one is based upon same idea, but a connection is established between accesses 2 and 3 and leaves access 1 open.

From figures IV-16,17 and 18, where they correspond to first TRL process. We extract the S matrix of B and Z_{00} , Z_{10} , Z_{11} of A.



Figure IV-16: PCB model with Thru 1



Figure IV-18: PCB model with Reflect 1

From the second TRL process, where the calculations are based upon the same idea, we extract the S matrix of B and Z_{00} , Z_{20} , Z_{22} of A.

The Third step of TRL process is used to determine Z_{21} . Fig. IV-19 below refers to the ADS schematic where the last unknown parameter is to be determined. The determination is based on connecting accesses 1 and 2 with their ports behavior. This behavior has been described in IV-4 and shows in a series connection of a resistor with 3 Ω to a coil with 3nH.

All the elements of Z_A matrix are obtained and then a normalizion is done by 50 Ω . The initial parameters A and B will be compared to the calculated one in the next part.



Figure IV-19: ADS schematic to determine Z₂₁ parameter

IV.5.4 Initial vs. Calculated A and B parameters

In this chapter, we introduce a multi TRL process to perform a calibration for a differential device. The study is based on the same idea of the TRL analytical calculations, that we have already dicussed in chapter 2 and validated by measuring an active device in chapter 3.

But for the differential device, it's not sufficient to perform TRL once, that's why we need a double step process for TRL and then a third step to calculate Z_{21} . In paragrpagh IV.4, we have illustrated all the calibartion steps needed and later in this parahrapgh IV.5, we have shown all the calibration schematics. Now, in this part we will show the calculated A and B parameters in comparison with the intial ones.



Figure IV-20: Initial vs. Calculated parameters of the input part A



Figure IV-21: Initial vs. Calculated parameters of the output part B

Fig. IV-18, refers to the Z parameters of the calculated and initial parameters A of the input part of the board, which is a three port network and contains the balun. The results show a coincidence within a wide band of frequency where the red and pink colors correspond to the initial and calculated Z parameters of A respectively.

Fig. IV-19, refers to the Z parameters of the calculated and initial parameters B of the output part of the board, which is a two port network. The dark and light blue colors which correspond to the initial and calculated Z parameters of B respectively, show a coincidence over all the frequency band of study. This comparison confirms the importance of multi TRL process which is essential to perform calibration for a differential device. This approach with Z parameters study is a starting point for characterization and modeling the errors embedded with any differential board.

IV.6 Conclusion and Perspectives

The four-port VNA are now familiar and many calibration procedures developed for two-port analyzers have been extended to four-port. Before an RF measurement, a calibration must be done on an external calibration kit (Cal-kit) provided by manufacturer to eliminate the influence of VNA, cables and RF connectors. The calibration algorithms programmed in most of modern VNAs are applicable for all circuit types. After RF measurements, input and output accesses must be deembedded from measurement results.

A simple technique has been described to measure the S-parameters of an N-port device at its reference planes using a two-port VNA. For each measurement, the unused N-2 ports are left open. The proposed method has been successfully verified with a branch-line coupler measured with a four-port VNA. On the one hand, this technique allows an accurate characterization of multi-port passive and stable devices. On the other hand, it allows a characterization cost saving in terms of test set equipment and used wafer area.

Nonetheless, due to the high reflection coefficient at non-connected ports, the device must be stable at this measurement configuration. The method applies well to passive circuits, but the stability for active circuits must be checked, even outside the measurement bandwidth. This method could be applied for some device's characterization in which a two-port VNA will be used to measure multi-port circuits.

CHAPTER V

GENERAL CONCLUSION AND

PERSPECTIVES

V.1 General Conclusion

This thesis focuses on measurement for characterizing electromagnetic interactions in a board (PCB) using modeling and electromagnetic simulation. This is a potential package for industrial environment in test measurements and for customers for their final end product device. In the context that the complexity and interactions within the board increase, the characterization and calibration of the board are more complicated, and take much time.

The objectives of this thesis aim to establish measurement methodologies in order to reduce the errors embedded with the load board and to reduce time to market for measured devices. To evaluate the developed methodologies, a fully integrated RF front-end MMIC device for WLAN is used.

The device is supported by Presto Engineering Inc. It includes a Low-Noise Amplifier, a TX Power Amplifier and an integrated power detector covering the entire ISM band. It has RX by-pass mode for high signal handling and low-power TX mode to optimize power efficiency of the PA for low-power levels. The tools and software used for measuring, characterizing and testing were found by Presto Engineering and NXP Semiconductors Caen.

The measurement calibration and de-embedding techniques were developed to meet the requirements of industry taking into account the errors embedded within the load board. Firstly, a new approach for calibration and de-embedding method was studied by analytical calculations and then a first validation example has been applied to confirm the proposed study.

The next part of the thesis focuses on modeling and measuring methodologies. Different calibration standards with two port PCB were modeled and simulated by HFSS 3D electromagnetic software. The calibration standards were fabricated by Accurate Circuit Engineering (ACE) in United States of America. The fabricated calibration standards have been characterized and evaluated by electromagnetic simulations. When it is technically possible, these standards can be measured with on-wafer probes.

The study has been realized up to 8.5 GHz by using an experimental single input and single output device which described before. The extraction results of the device within a test board has been compared with an evaluation board that includes a TRL calibration-kit. Our new approach for

TRL calibration and de-embedding technique have been evaluated by measurement and shows a very well agreement. This technique will be extended for complex system e.g 5G devices.

The third part of the thesis talks about the simulation methodology for differential device. The calibration in mixed modes is highly demanded not only for differential devices which are progressively used for high-speed circuit, but also for the mutual coupling between interconnections. Because the drawback of the mixed-mode calibrations in the recent publication is very complex, a double TRL process combined with calibration algorithm is simpler to apply. The mutual coupling between the differential ports has been evaluated by a resistance in series with an inductance.

The method has been applied for the characterization of error terms and has been evaluated by simulations up to 8GHz. All the experimental setup with the calibration steps had allowed to extract the error terms that have been coincide with the initial introduced parameters. Due to time constraints and technological complexity, it hasn't been possible to validate experimentally the method.

The method will be definitely validated when an error calculation is done, allowing the evaluation of the global accuracy of the method.

V.2 Perspectives

This thesis opens to many potential perspectives:

- **4** To validate the accuracy of the method, an error calculation is necessary.
- RF calibration and de-embedding procedure can be quickly performed by using our approach in an automatic system. For this purpose a specific software based upon National Instrument's LabVIEW, Keysight's VEE or other could allow an automatic environment.
- The design of the calibration standards allowing probe measurements could be very difficult so, a 3D electromagnetic simulation can be a sufficient alternative.
- Development of dedicated calibration and de-embedding solutions for a differential devices with a more complex geometry and number of ports greater than 4.
- 4 New studies must be extended to follow the new trends for complex system e.g 5G devices.

REFERENCES

[1] D. M. Pozar, *Microwave Engineering*, New York: J. Wiley & Sons, 2003.

[2] Roger Stancliff, Joel Dunsmore, "The Evolution of RF/Microwave Network Analyzers," *Agilent Measurement Journal*, p50 <u>http://cp.literature.agilent.com/litweb/pdf/5989-6353EN.pdf</u>

[3] Pat Hindle, "The State of RF and Microwave Switches", *Microwave Journal*, Vol. 53, No. 11, Page 20, Nov. 2010.

[4] A. E. Parker, J. G. Rathmell, and J. B. Scott, in *The RF and Microwave Handbook*, 1st edn., ser. Electrical Engineering Handbook, M. Golio, Ed.NewYork, USA: CRC Press LLC, 2000.

[5] Stephen A. Maas, *The RF Microwave Circuit Design Cookbook*, Artech House, Inc. 1998.

[6] Specifying calibration standards for the Agilent network analyzer', Agilent Product Note 8510–5B, Technical Report, 2006.

[7] Agilent technologies, "U3022AE10 Multiport test set", 2007. Available http://www.agilent.com.

[8] HEWLETT PACKARD, Specifying Calibration Standards for the HP 8510 Network Analyzer, Product Note 8510-5a, Feb. 1988.

[9] Applying Error Correction to Network Analyzer Measurements, Application Note, Agilent AN 1287-3.

[10] R. B. Marks, "A multiline method of network analyzer calibration," *IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Technique*, vol. 39, pp. 1205-1215, July 1991.

[11] A. Rumiantsev and N. Ridler, "VNA calibration," *IEEE Microwave Magazine*, vol. 9, no.3, pp. 86–99, Jun. 2008.

[12] D. Rytting, "Advances in microwave error correction techniques," in *Hewlett-Packard RF* & *Microwave Measurement Symposium and Exhibition*, June 1987, p. 27.

[13] D. Rytting, IEEE MTT/ED seminar on Calibration and Error Correction Techniques for Network Analysis, *OGl Center for Professional Development*, September, 2004.

[14] J.R. Juroshek, D. X. LeGolvan, "Correcting for Systematic Errors in One-Port Calibration Standards", *62nd ARFTG Microwave Measurements*, Fall 2003.

[15] Chen, C.-J., and Chu, T.-H.: 'Analytical characterization of S-matrix reconstruction transforms on multiport networks', *Proc. of 2011 Asia- Pacific Microwave Conference*, Melbourne, Australia, 2011, pp. 1362–1365.

[16] L. A. Hayden and V. K. Tripathi, "Calibration methods for time domain network analysis," IEEE *Trans. Microwave Theory and Tech.*, vol. MTT-41, no. 3, pp. 415420, Mar. 1993.

[17] J.A. Lonac, I, Melczarsky, R.P. Paganelli, "On-wafer multiport linear characterization of passive structures using a standard two-port VNA", *40th European Microwave Conference*, Paris Sept 28-30, 2010, pp. 252-255.

[18] N. R. Franzen and R. A. Speciale, "A new procedure for system calibration and error removal in automated S-parameter measurements," in *Conf. Proc. 5th European Microwave Conf.*, Hamburg, Germany,1975, pp. 67–73.

[19] S. Padmanabhan; P. Kirby; J. Daniel; L. Dunleavy, "Accurate broadband on-wafer SOLT calibrations with complex load and thru models" *IEEE International ARFTG Conference Digest*, June 2003.

[20] M. Imparato, T. Weller, and L. Dunleavy, On-wafer calibration using space-conservative (SOLT) standards"MTT-*S Inf '1 Microwave Symposium*, June 1999.

[21] U. Stumper, "Uncertainties of VNA S-parameter measurements applying the short–open–load–reciprocal (SOLR) calibration method," in *CPEM Conf. Dig.*, Broomfield, CO, 2008, pp. 438–439.

[22] H. Eul and B. Schiek, "Experimental Results of New Self-Calibration Procedures for Network Analyzers", 20th IEEE European Microwave Conference, 1990.

[23] L. F. Tiemeijer, R. J. Havens, A. B. M. Jansman, and Y. Bouttement, "Comparison of the 'pad-open-short' and 'open-short-load' deembedding techniques for accurate on-wafer RF characterization of highquality passives," *IEEE Trans. Microwave Theory Technology.*, vol. 53, no. 2, pp. 723–729, Feb. 2005.

[24] Ju-Young Kim, Min-Kwon Choi, and Seonghearn Lee, "A "Thru-Short-Open" Deembedding Method for Accurate On-Wafer RF Measurements", *Journal of Semiconductor Technology and Science*, Vol.12, No.1, March, 2012. [Online]: http://www.jsts.org/html/journal_files/2012/03/year2012volume12_01_08.pdf

[25] D-G. Kam and J. Kim, "Multiport measurement method using a two-port network analyzer with remaining ports unterminated", *IEEE Microwave and Wireless Components Letters*, vol. 17, no. 9, September 2007.

[26] Sreemala Pannala and Madhavan Swaminathan, "Extraction of S-Parameters from TDR/TDT Measurements using Rational Functions", *54th Automatic RF Techniques Group* (*ARFTG*) *Conference Digest*, pp. 45-52, Atlanta, Dec. 1999.

[27] A. Davidson, E. Strid, and K. Jones, "Achieving greater on-wafer S-parameter accuracy with the LRM calibration technique", *34th ARFTG conference digest*, Dec. 1989.

[28] A. Davidson, E. Strid, and K. Jones, "LRM and LRRM calibrations with automatic determination of lead inductance", *36th ARFTG conference digest*, Nov. 1990.

[29] J. A. Jargon and R. B. Marks, "Two-Tier Multiline TRL for Calibration of Low-Cost Network Analyzers," *46th ARFTG Conference Digest*, pp. 1-8, Dec. 1995.

[30] A. Ferrero and U. Pisani. "Two-port network analyzer calibration using an unknown 'thru' *". IEEE Microwave and Guided Wave Letters*, 2(12):505–507, 1992.

[31] C. Shih, "Advanced TRL (through-reflect-line) fixture design and error analysis for RF high power transistor characterization and automatic load pull measurement", *51st ARFTG Symposium*, pp. 72-76, June 1998.

[32] H.-J. Eul and B. Schiek, "Thru-match-reflect: One result of a rigorous theory for deembedding and network analyzer calibration," in *Proc. 18th European Microwave Conf.*, Stockholm, Sweden, 1988, pp. 909–914.

[33] G. F. Engen and C. A. Hoer, "Thru-reflect-line: An improved technique for calibrating the dual six-port automatic network analyzer," *IEEE Trans. Microwave Theory Tech.*, vol. MTT-27, pp. 987–993, Apr. 1979.
[34] C. Seguinot, P. Kennis, J.-F. Legier, F. Huret, E. Paleczny, and L. Hayden, "Multimode TRL - A New Concept in Microwave Measurements: Theory and Experimental Verification," *IEEE Trans. Microwave. Theory Tech*niques, vol. 46, May 1998.

[35] H. Heuermann and B. Schiek, "Robust algorithms for Txx network analyzer self-calibration procedures," *IEEE Transaction Instruments Measurement*, vol. 43, pp. 18–23, Feb. 1994.

[36] A. Bechir, D. Vincent., "Designing TRL standards for accurate measurements of 120° accesses CPW devices" 21st International Conference on Microwave, Radar and Wireless Communications (MIKON), 2016.

[37] Ruttan, T.G.; Grossman, B.; Ferrero, A.; Teppati, V.; Martens, J., "Multiport VNA measurement," *Microwave Magazine, IEEE*, vol.9, no.3, pp.56,69, June 2008.

[38] D. E. Bockelman and W. R. Eisenstadt, "Pure-mode network analyzer for on-wafer measurements of mixed-mode - parameters of differential circuits," *IEEE Trans. Microwave Theory Techniques*, vol. 45, no. 7, pp. 1071–1077, Jul. 1997.

[39] Van Lil, E., "A Rigorous Technique for Measuring the Scattering Matrix of a Multiport Device with a Two-Port Network Analyzer (Comments)," *Microwave Theory and Techniques, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.33, no.3, pp.286,287, Mar 1985.

[40] Changying Wu ; Leilei Sima ; Xiangyao Hou ; Jianzhou Li "Periodical Measurement Error With Respect to the Length of Thru in TRL Technique," *IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques*, Volume: 65, Issue: 5, May 2017.

[41] L.-T. Hwang and S.-M. Kuo, "A post-processing de-embedding technique and effect of TRL measurement using an incorrect fixturing," in Proc. *57th Electron Components Technology Conference*, May 2007, pp. 1884–1888.

[42] L. Wan, Q. Li, J. Wu, and G. He, "A novel leakage TRL calibration technique for differential devices", in *International Conference on Microwave Millimeter Wave Technology Proceedings*, Nanjing, China, Apr. 2008, pp. 1427–1430.

[43] C. Wu, Y. Xu, J. Li, and S. Gao, "Effects of the length of Thru on the measurement precision in TRL technique," *IEEE Microwave Wireless Components*. Letter, vol. 24, no. 12, pp. 905–907, Dec. 2014.

[44] H.-J. Eul and B. Schiek, "A generalized theory and new calibration procedures for network analyzer self-calibration," *IEEE Trans. Microwave Theory Tech.*, vol. 39, pp. 724–731, Apr. 1991.

[45] Karsten Kuhlmann, "A study of the reference impedance influence on a TRL calibration," *Microwave Measurement Conference (ARFTG)*, 2016 87th ARFTG, 27-27 May 2016.

[46] R. B. Marks, "A Multiline Method of Network Analyzer Calibration," *IEEE Trans. Microwave Theory & Tech.*, vol. 39, no. 7, pp. 1205-1215, July 1991.

[47] J.R. Monjardín-Lopez, A. Garcia-Osorio, D. OrozcoNavarro, J.R. Loo-Yau, and M.C. Maya-Sanchez, "Using lines of arbitrary impedance as standards on the TRL calibration technique," *81st ARFTG Microwave Measurement Conference*, pp.1-4, Jun. 2013.

[48] D. C. DeGroot, and J. A. Jargon, and R. B. Marks, "Multiline TRL revealed", *Proc. 60rd ARFTG*, pp. 131-155, December 2002.

[49] Agilent Technologies, "Keysight Electronic Calibration Modules," 2015. [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.keysight.com/en/pd-57367-pnN4693A/electronic-calibration-module</u>

[50] Agilent Technologies, "Agilent AN 1287-3 Applying Error Correction to Network Analyzer Measurements," in Appl. Note 1287-3, 2002, pp. 1–16.

[51] J. Stenarson and K. Yhland, "A reformulation of TRL and LRM for Sparameters", *Proc. 73rd ARFTG*, pp. 7780, June 2009.

[52] Agilent Technologies, "Specifying Calibration Standards and Kits for Agilent Vector Network Analyzers," in Appl. Note 1287-11, 2011, pp. 1–42.

[53] Y. Kim and C.-S. Lee, "An improved error correction method of TRL removing manufacturing inaccuracy," in Proc. *IEEE Antennas Propag*ation Soc. Int. Symp., 2004, pp. 3625–3628.

[54] Agilent Technologies, "Agilent Specifying Calibration Standards for the Agilent 8510 Network Analyzer," in Appl. Note 8510-5B, 2006, pp. 1– 32.

[55] J. Zhang, M. Koledintseva, J. Drewniak, G. Antonini, A. Orlandi, and K. Rozanov, "Extracting R, L, G, C Parameters of Dispersive Planar Transmission Lines from Measured S-Parameters using a Genetic Algorithm", *Proc. of the 2004 IEEE International Symposium on Electromagnetic Compatibility*, Santa Clara, CA, pp. 572-576, August 2004. [56] A. Visweswaran and W. A. Serdijn, "A low power UWB-LNA using active dual loop negative feedback in CMOS 0.13µm," *Proceedings of IEEE International Symposium on Circuits and Systems*, Taipei, 2009, pp. 225-228.

[57] T. T. N. Tran, C. C. Boon, M. A. Do and K. S. Yeo, "A 2.4 GHz ultra low-power high gain LNA utilizing A-match and capacitive feedback input network," *Proceedings of IEEE 54th International Midwest Symposium on Circuits and Systems (MWSCAS)*, Seoul, 2011, pp. 1-4.

[58] M. Wojnowski, M. Engl, V. Issakov, G. Sommer, R. Weigel, "Accurate broadband RLCGparameter extraction with TRL calibration", *IEEE MTT-S International Microwave Symposium Digest*, 2008, pp. 41-46.

[59] S. Mason, "Power Gain in Feedback Amplifier," in *Transactions of the IRE Professional Group on Circuit Theory*, vol. CT-1, no. 2, pp. 20-25, June 1954.

[60] H. Fukui; "Available Power Gain, Noise Figure, and Noise Measure of Two-Ports and Their Graphical Representations," *IEEE Transactions on Circuit Theory*, Volume: 13, Issue: 2, June 1966.

[61] M. Wojnowski, M.; Issakov, V.; Sommer, G.; Weigel, R., "Multimode TRL Calibration Technique for Characterization of Differential Devices," *Microwave Theory and Techniques, IEEE Transactions* on, vol.60, no.7, pp.2220, 2247, July 2012.

[62] Martens, J.; Judge, D.V.; Bigelow, J.A., "Uncertainties associated with many-port. Sparameter measurements using a four-port vector network analyzer," *Microwave Theory and Techniques, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.52, no.5, pp.1361, 1368, May 2004.

[63] Weigan Lin; Chengli Ruan, "Measurement and calibration of a universal six-port network analyzer," *Microwave Theory and Techniques, IEEE Transactions*, vol.37, no.4, pp.734, 742, April 1989.

[64] Issakov, V.; Wojnowski, M.; Thiede, A.; Weigel, R., "Considerations on the de-embedding of differential devices using two-port techniques," *European Microwave Conference* (EuMC), pp.695-698, Sept. 29 2009-Oct. 1 2009.

[65] HOER, C.A., ENGEN, G.F., "Calibrating a Dual Six-Port or Four-Port for Measuring Two-Ports with Any Connectors", *IEEE MTT-S, Symposium Digest* 1986, pp. 665 – 668. [66] I. Rolfes and B. Schiek, "Multiport method for the measurement of the scattering parameters of n-ports", *IEEE transactions on Microwave Theory and techniques*, vol. 53, no. 6, pp. 1990-1996, Jun 2008.

[67] K. Jung, OR. Beaverton, R.L Campbell, L.A Hayden, W.R Eisenstadt, "Evaluation of Measurement Uncertainties Caused by Common and Cross Modes in Differential Measurements Using Baluns", *IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques*, vol. 56, no. 6, June 2008, pp. 1485-1492.

[68] K. J. Silvonen, "A general approach to network analyzer calibration," *IEEE Trans. Microwave Theory Technique*, vol. 40, pp. 754–759, Apr. 1992.

[69] A. Ferrero, U. Pisani, and K. J. Kerwin, "A new implementation of a multiport automatic network analyzer," *IEEE Trans. Microwave Theory Technique*, vol. 40, pp. 2078–2085, Nov. 1992.

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure I-1: Simplified Scalar network analyzer block diagram	22
Figure I-2: Overall scheme for vector network analyzer	23
Figure I-3: Simplified operating principle of a vector network analyzer	24
Figure I-4: Systematic errors in vector network analyzer	25
Figure I-5: TRL calibration standards	27
Figure I-6: Overview Scheme	
Figure I-7: Overview two-port board	29
Figure II-1: TRL calibration model	
Figure II-2: Two-port measurement setup	37
Figure II-3: Distribution of system of errors within two-port network	
Figure II-4: RF coaxial input/output ports	
Figure II-5: Load board setup	
Figure II-6: Examples of fabricated standards	40
Figure II-7: Reference plane's distribution for two-port board	40
Figure II-8: Identification of errors for a two-port board	41
Figure II-9: Planes configuration for a standard	42
Figure II-10: Error terms in a standard	42
Figure II-11: Planes configuration for a measurement setup	43
Figure II-12: Distribution of error terms between RF coaxial connectors	43
Figure II-13: Simulated calibration setup	44
Figure II-14: Simulated standards	45

Figure II-15: Simulated vs. Introduced S parameters of input board	45
Figure II-16: Simulated vs. Introduced S parameters for Thru standard	46
Figure II-17: Simulated vs. Introduced S parameters for Line standard	46
Figure II-18: Simulated vs. Introduced S parameters for Reflect standard	47
Figure III-1: Pin's configuration of the tested device	53
Figure III-2: Schema of the test board	54
Figure III 2: Levout of a "Thru" calibration element	
Figure III-5. Layout of a Tillu canoration element	
Figure III-4: Layout of a "Line" calibration element	55
Figure III-5: Layout of a "Reflect" calibration element	56
Figure III-6: Top and Bottom view of "TAT" fabricated standard	57
Figure III-7: Top and Bottom view of "LAR" fabricated standard	57
Figure III-8: HFSS PCB model	58
Figure III-9: S parameters of a"Thru" and "Ref" calibration standards	58
Figure III-10: Measured and calculated $S_{11 dB}$ of HBT	59
Figure III-11: Measured and calculated phase S _{21 degree} of HBT	60
Figure III-12: Standards calibration under GS probes	61
Figure III-13: S parameters of a"Thru" standard	61
Figure III-14: S parameters of a "Line" standard	62
Figure III-15: S parameters of a "Reflect" standard	62
Figure III-16: Test board with a socket	63
Figure III-17: "Thru" standard behavior in three cases	63
Figure III-18: "line" standard behavior in three cases	64
Figure III-19: Evaluation board (EVB)	65
Figure III-20: S ₂₁ dB for DUT in ByPass mode	66

Figure III-21: S ₂₁ phase for DUT in ByPass mode	66
Figure III-22: S ₂₁ dB for DUT in LNA mode	67
Figure III-23: S ₂₁ phase for DUT in LNA mode	67
Figure III-24: Pi-circuit model	68
Figure III-25: Capacitance	69
Figure III-26: Conductance	69
Figure III-27: Available power gain	71
Figure III-28: Insertion power gain	71
Figure III-29: Operating power gain	72
Figure IV-1: four-port structure	79
Figure IV-2: Symmetrical tee	81
Figure IV-3: Differential mode	81
Figure IV-4: Common mode	81
Figure IV-5: First step of TRL process	87
Figure IV-6: Second step of TRL process	87
Figure IV-7: Third step of TRL process	88
Figure IV-8: Ports behavior	89
Figure IV-9: Input part A of the PCB	90
Figure IV-10: Output part B of the PCB	90
Figure IV-11: Simulation results of initial parameters of the input part of the board A	91
Figure IV-12: Simulation results of initial parameters of the output part of the board B	91
Figure IV-13: "Thru" standard	92
Figure IV-14: "Line" standard	92
Figure IV-15: "Reflect" standard	92

Figure IV-16: PCB model with Thru 1	.93
Figure IV-17: PCB model with Line 1	.93
Figure IV-18: PCB model with Reflect 1	.93
Figure IV-19: ADS schematic to determine Z ₂₁ parameter	.94
Figure IV-20: Initial vs. Calculated parameters of the input part A	.95
Figure IV-21: Initial vs. Calculated parameters of the output part B	.95

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

Journals

- [1] K. Hamze; D. Pasquet; P. Descamps; E. De Ledinghen; "Extraction of Device S-Parameters within Board by using a TRL De-Embedding Technique," *Microwave and Optical Technology Letters (MOTL), WILEY*, MOP-18-0371, 18 June 2018.
- K. Hamze; D. Pasquet; P. Descamps; E. De Ledinghen; "Analytical calculations for TRL Calibration Method," *Microwave Journal (MWJ)*, *HORIZON HOUSE PUBLICATIONS*, *INC*. Ref. no. 8348, 24 July 2018.

International IEEE Conferences

- [3] K. Hamze; D. Pasquet; P. Descamps; E. De Ledinghen; "Applied TRL Calibration Method to Differential Devices Embedded in a Test Board," *Radio and Wireless Week (RWW)*, *Orlando*, Florida, 20-23 January 2019.
- [4] K. Hamze; P. Descamps; D. Pasquet; C. Mayor; C. Gautier; "Evaluation of Substrate's Characteristics from the Relation between Wave and Characteristic Impedances for a CPW," *Microwave and Radar Week (MRW)*, 8th International MRW Conference, Poznan, Poland, 14-17 May 2018.
- [5] K. Hamze; P. Descamps; D. Pasquet; E. De Ledinghen; "Evaluation of the Error due to Bended CPW Lines used in a Calibration Process," *Mediterranean Microwave Symposium*, 17th International MMS Conference, Marseille, France, 28-30 November 2017.
- [6] K. Hamze; D. Pasquet; P. Descamps; E. De Ledinghen; "Theoretical Comparison Between Calibration Standards using Straight and Bended CPWs," *International Conference on Advanced Technologies, Systems and Services in Telecommunications*, 13th International Telsiks Conference, Nis, Serbia, 18-20 October 2017.

National Conference

[7] K. Hamze; P. Descamps; D. Pasquet; E. De Ledinghen; "Parasitic Effects of Coplanar and Slot modes in Waveguides," *Circuits et systèmes intégrés RF/millimétriques du GDR Ondes*, Grenoble, France, March 2017.

APPENDIX 1

1.1 Single Input/Output Terminated Ports:



Figure 1.1: Distribution of error terms in two-port network

1.1.1 Forward: Three ratios are measured:

$$A_F = \frac{b_0}{a_0} ; \ B_F = \frac{b_3}{a_0} ; \ C_F = \frac{a_3}{a_0}$$
(1.1)

For a TRL calibration between VNA reference ports, the input impedance of a plane P_3 of the VNA is not matched. It means that the ratios A_F , B_F depend on port 3 mismatch described by C_F .

$$A_F = S_{m11} + C_F S_{m12} \tag{1.2}$$

$$B_F = S_{m21} + C_F S_{m22} \tag{1.3}$$

1.1.2 Reverse: Three ratios are measured:

$$A_{R} = \frac{b_{3}}{a_{3}}; B_{R} = \frac{b_{0}}{a_{3}}; C_{R} = \frac{a_{0}}{a_{3}}$$
 (1.4)

For a TRL calibration between VNA reference ports, the input impedance of a plane P_0 of the VNA is not matched. It means that the ratios A_R , B_R depend on port 0 mismatch described by C_R .

$$A_{R} = S_{m22} + C_{R}S_{m21} \tag{1.5}$$

$$B_R = S_{m12} + C_R S_{m11} \tag{1.6}$$

$$S_{m11} = \frac{A_F - C_F B_R}{1 - C_F C_R}$$
(1.7)

$$S_{m21} = \frac{B_F - C_F A_R}{1 - C_F C_R}$$
(1.8)

$$S_{m22} = \frac{A_R - C_R B_F}{1 - C_F C_R}$$
(1.9)

$$S_{m12} = \frac{B_R - C_R A_F}{1 - C_F C_R}$$
(1.10)

In our case we deal with corrected measurements after the SOLT calculation between the RF coaxial input/output connectors. The "corrected VNA" ports are matched and $C_F = C_R = 0$

1.1.3 Calibration standards

a) Thru:

$$S = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1\\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \tag{1.11}$$



Figure 1.2: Distribution of error terms in Thru standard

$$S_{m11} = e_{00} + e_{10}e_{01}\frac{e_{22}}{1 - e_{11}e_{22}} = R_{F1}$$
(1.12)

$$S_{m12} = \frac{e_{01}e_{23}}{1 - e_{11}e_{22}} = T_{R1}$$
(1.13)

$$S_{m21} = \frac{e_{10}e_{32}}{1 - e_{11}e_{22}} = T_{F1}$$
(1.14)

$$S_{m22} = e_{33} + e_{32}e_{23}\frac{e_{11}}{1 - e_{11}e_{22}} = R_{R1}$$
(1.15)

b) Line where $S_{11}=S_{22}=0$:

 $S = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & X \\ X & 0 \end{pmatrix} \tag{1.16}$



Figure 1.3: Distribution of error terms in Line standard

$$S_{m11} = e_{00} + e_{10}e_{01}\frac{e_{22}X^2}{1 - e_{11}e_{22}X^2} = R_{F2}$$
(1.17)

$$S_{m12} = \frac{e_{01}e_{23}X}{1 - e_{11}e_{22}X^2} = T_{R2}$$
(1.18)

$$S_{m21} = \frac{e_{10}e_{32}X}{1 - e_{11}e_{22}X^2} = T_{F2}$$
(1.19)

$$S_{m22} = e_{33} + e_{32}e_{23}\frac{e_{11}X^2}{1 - e_{11}e_{22}X^2} = R_{R2}$$
(1.20)

For an actual line $X = e^{-\jmath t}$

c) Reflect

$$\mathbf{S} = \begin{pmatrix} \Gamma & T \\ T & \Gamma \end{pmatrix} \tag{1.21}$$

Where $|T| \ll |\Gamma|$

In our case, as $a_3=0$, the reflection coefficient at the input of the reflect.

$$\Gamma_B = \Gamma + \frac{T^2 \Gamma}{1 - e_{22} \Gamma} \tag{1.22}$$

The reflect for the calculation can, be considered as a unilateral two-port whose S matrix is:



Figure 1.4: Distribution of error terms in reflect standard

$$S_{m11} = e_{00} + \frac{e_{10}e_{01}\Gamma_B}{1 - e_{11}\Gamma_B} = R_{F3}$$
(1.24)

$$S_{m22} = e_{33} + \frac{e_{32}e_{23}\Gamma_B}{1 - e_{22}\Gamma_B} = R_{R3}$$
(1.25)

1.1.4 Solution

From (1.12) and (1.17) and from (1.15) and (1.20):

(1.26)

$$R_{F1} - R_{F2} = \frac{e_{10}e_{22}}{e_{32}} \left(T_{F1} - T_{F2}X\right)$$

$$R_{R1} - R_{R2} = \frac{e_{32}e_{11}}{e_{01}} \left(T_{R1} - T_{R2}X\right)$$
(1.27)

Let:

$$\alpha = e_{11}e_{22} \text{ and } \beta = (R_{F1} - R_{F2})(R_{R1} - R_{R2})$$
 (1.28)

$$\begin{cases} \beta = \alpha \left(T_{F_1} - X T_{F_2} \right) \left(T_{R_1} - X T_{R_2} \right) \\ \frac{T_{F_1}}{T_{F_2}} = \frac{1 - \alpha X^2}{(1 - \alpha) X} \end{cases}$$
(1.29)

We obtain two expressions for α :

$$\begin{cases} \alpha = \frac{\beta}{(T_{F1} - XT_{F2})(T_{R1} - XT_{R2})} \\ \alpha = \frac{T_{F2} - XT_{F1}}{X(XT_{F2} - T_{F1})} \end{cases}$$
(1.30)

That gives a second degree equation in *X*:

$$X^{2} + \frac{\beta - T_{F1}T_{R1} - T_{F2}T_{R2}}{T_{F1}T_{R2}}X + \frac{T_{R1}T_{F2}}{T_{F1}T_{R2}} = 0$$
(1.31)

There are two solutions for this equation, but both values for |X| are close to unity for a line with small losses. It is difficult to choose the right solution. It is safer to choose $|\alpha| << 1$:

$$\alpha = \frac{\beta}{(T_{F1} - XT_{F2})(T_{R1} - XT_{R2})}$$
(1.32)

From (12) and (17):

$$e_{00} = \frac{R_{F1}(1-\alpha)X^2 - R_{F2}(1-\alpha X^2)}{X^2 - 1}$$
(1.33)

$$e_{33} = \frac{R_{R1}(1-\alpha)X^2 - R_{R2}(1-\alpha X^2)}{X^2 - 1}$$
(1.34)

Let:

$$R'_{Fi} = R_{Fi} - e_{00}$$
 and $R'_{Ri} = R_{Ri} - e_{33}$ (1.35)

From (22) and (12):

$$\frac{\Gamma_B}{e_{22}} = \frac{R'_{F3}}{R'_{F1} + \alpha \left(R'_{F3} - R'_{F1}\right)}$$
(1.36)

From (23) and (15):

$$\Gamma_{B}e_{22} = \frac{R_{R3}'\alpha}{R_{R1}' + \alpha(R_{R3}' - R_{R1}')}$$
(1.37)

So:

$$\Gamma_{B} = \left(\frac{R_{F3}'R_{R3}'\alpha}{\left(R_{F1}' + \alpha \left(R_{F3}' - R_{F1}'\right)\right)\left(R_{R1}' + \alpha \left(R_{R3}' - R_{R1}'\right)\right)}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$
(1.38)

We have choose the right determination of Γ_B by comparing its argument to the phase calculated from group delay.

For the remaining elements:

$$e_{22} = \frac{R'_{F1} + \alpha \left(R'_{F3} - R'_{F1}\right)}{R'_{F3}} \Gamma_B$$
(1.39)

$$e_{11} = \frac{\alpha}{e_{22}}$$
 (1.40)

$$e_{10}e_{32} = T_{F1}(1-\alpha) \tag{1.41}$$

$$e_{01}e_{23} = T_{R1}(1-\alpha) \tag{1.42}$$

$$e_{10}e_{01} = \frac{R'_{F3}(1 - e_{11}\Gamma_B)}{\Gamma_B}$$
(1.43)

$$e_{23}e_{32} = \frac{R'_{R3}(1 - e_{22}\Gamma_B)}{\Gamma_B}$$
(1.44)

1.1.5 De-Embedding

From the calculated error terms e_{ij} and the S_{mij} parameters measured between P₀ and P₃, it is possible to calculate the DUT S-parameters:



Figure 1.5: Two-port network model

$$S_{11} = \frac{A_{11}(1 + A_{22}e_{22}) - A_{12}A_{21}e_{22}}{(1 + A_{11}e_{11})(1 + A_{22}e_{22}) - A_{12}A_{21}e_{11}e_{22}}$$
(1.45)

$$S_{12} = \frac{A_{12} (1 + A_{11} (e_{22} - e_{11}))}{(1 + A_{11} e_{11}) (1 + A_{22} e_{22}) - A_{12} A_{21} e_{11} e_{22}}$$
(1.46)

$$S_{21} = \frac{A_{21} \left(1 + A_{22} \left(e_{22} - e_{11} \right) \right)}{\left(1 + A_{11} e_{11} \right) \left(1 + A_{22} e_{22} \right) - A_{12} A_{21} e_{11} e_{22}}$$
(1.47)

$$S_{22} = \frac{A_{22}(1 + A_{11}e_{11}) - A_{12}A_{21}e_{11}}{(1 + A_{11}e_{11})(1 + A_{22}e_{22}) - A_{12}A_{21}e_{11}e_{22}}$$
(1.48)

With :

$$A_{11} = \frac{S_{m11} - e_{00}}{e_{10}e_{01}}$$
(1.49)

$$A_{12} = \frac{S_{m12}}{e_{01}e_{23}} \tag{1.50}$$

$$A_{21} = \frac{S_{m21}}{e_{10}e_{32}} \tag{1.51}$$

$$A_{22} = \frac{S_{m22} - e_{33}}{e_{32}e_{23}} \tag{1.52}$$

APPENDIX 2

2.1 Multi-ports input/output termination

A differential circuit with at least three ports (two inputs and one output) demands multi-port tests. In addition, multi-port measurement is also required to determine mutual coupling between differential interconnections which influences significantly package performance due to the trend of increasing operation frequency, and signal density.

2.1.1 Two-port terminated by Γ_L at access 2

$$\begin{cases} b_1 = S_{11}a_1 + S_{12}\Gamma_L b_2 \\ b_2 = S_{21}a_1 + S_{22}\Gamma_L b_2 \end{cases}$$
(2.1)

$$S_{22}\Gamma_L b_2 = b_2 - S_{21}a_1 \; ; \; b_2 - S_{22}\Gamma_L b_2 = S_{21}a_1 \; ; \; b_2 = S_{21}a_1 (1 - S_{22}\Gamma_L)^{-1} \quad (2.2)$$

$$\frac{b_1}{a_1} = S_{11} + S_{12}\Gamma_L S_{21} (1 - S_{22}\Gamma_L)^{-1} = S_{11} + \frac{S_{12}S_{21}\Gamma_L}{1 - S_{22}\Gamma_L}$$
(2.3)

2.1.2 Three-port terminated by Γ_L at access 3

$$\begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{S}^{\mathbf{H}} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{S}_{11}^{\mathbf{H}} & \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{S}_{12}^{\mathbf{H}} \\ \mathbf{S}_{21}^{\mathbf{H}} & \boldsymbol{S}_{22}^{H} \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.4)

$$\begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{S}_{11}^{\mathbf{H}} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} S_{11} & S_{12} \\ S_{21} & S_{22} \end{pmatrix} ; \\ \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{S}_{12}^{\mathbf{H}} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} S_{13} \\ S_{23} \end{pmatrix} ; \\ \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{S}_{21}^{\mathbf{H}} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} S_{31} & S_{32} \end{pmatrix} ; \\ \begin{pmatrix} S_{22}^{\mathbf{H}} \end{pmatrix} = S_{33}$$
(2.5)

$$\begin{cases} \begin{pmatrix} b_1 \\ b_2 \end{pmatrix} = \left(\mathbf{S}_{11}^{\mathbf{H}} \begin{pmatrix} a_1 \\ a_2 \end{pmatrix} + \left(\mathbf{S}_{12}^{\mathbf{H}} \right) \Gamma_L b_3 \\ b_3 = \left(\mathbf{S}_{21}^{\mathbf{H}} \begin{pmatrix} a_1 \\ a_2 \end{pmatrix} + S_{22}^{H} \Gamma_L b_3 \end{cases}$$
(2.6)

$$b_3 = \left(\mathbf{S}_{21}^{\mathbf{H}} \left(\begin{array}{c} a_1 \\ a_2 \end{array} \right) \left(1 - S_{22}^{H} \Gamma_L \right)^{-1}$$
(2.7)

$$\begin{pmatrix} b_1 \\ b_2 \end{pmatrix} = \left(\left(\mathbf{S}_{11}^{\mathbf{H}} \right) + \left(\mathbf{S}_{12}^{\mathbf{H}} \right) \Gamma_L \left(\mathbf{S}_{21}^{\mathbf{H}} \right) \left(1 - S_{22}^{H} \Gamma_L \right)^{-1} \left(\begin{array}{c} a_1 \\ a_2 \end{array} \right)$$
(2.8)

2.1.3 *M*-port terminated on *N* accesses

Four-port VNA are not always available. In that case, a two-port VNA must be used. For the moment, we have considered the error model as two two-ports.



Figure 2.1: Two-port error models

Instead, we could consider the error model as a four-port

Figure 2.2: Four-port error model

0 and 3 are the planes where we measure with the VNA between SMAs. 1 and 2 are the DUT reference planes.

$$\begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{S}^{\mathbf{M}} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{S}_{11}^{\mathbf{M}} & \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{S}_{12}^{\mathbf{M}} \end{pmatrix} \\ \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{S}_{21}^{\mathbf{M}} \end{pmatrix} & \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{S}_{22}^{\mathbf{M}} \end{pmatrix} \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.9)

$$\left(\mathbf{S}_{11}^{\mathbf{M}} \right) = \begin{pmatrix} S_{11}^{M} & \dots & S_{1,M-N}^{M} \\ \dots & \dots & \dots \\ S_{M-N,1}^{M} & \dots & S_{M-N,M-N}^{M} \end{pmatrix} \quad ; \\ \left(\mathbf{S}_{22}^{\mathbf{M}} \right) = \begin{pmatrix} S_{M-N+1,M-N+1}^{M} & \dots & S_{M-N+1,M}^{M} \\ \dots & \dots & \dots \\ S_{M,M-N+1}^{M} & \dots & S_{M,M}^{M} \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.10)

$$\left(\mathbf{S}_{12}^{\mathbf{M}} \right) = \begin{pmatrix} S_{1,M-N+1}^{M} & \dots & S_{1,M}^{M} \\ \dots & \dots & \dots \\ S_{M-N,M-N+1}^{M} & \dots & S_{M-N,M}^{M} \end{pmatrix} ; \\ \left(\mathbf{S}_{21}^{\mathbf{M}} \right) = \begin{pmatrix} S_{M-N+1,1}^{M} & \dots & S_{M-N+1,M-N}^{M} \\ \dots & \dots & \dots \\ S_{M,1}^{M} & \dots & S_{M,M-N}^{M} \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.11)

ABSTRACT

The work of this thesis deals with the developing of an efficient methodology for modeling parasitic effects within a broadband board. Reducing "Time to Market" for the design of RF and microwave products necessitates the development of an efficient characterization and modeling methodologies for better calibrating the errors embedded within the test board.

Main results concern the following contributions:

- Development of an innovative calibration standards to characterize and model the parasitic effects embedded within the model.
- Elaboration of a new approach based on a TRL calibration technique and de-embedding method effective to de-embed these effects.
- **4** Application on differential devices upon using multi-port TRL calibration.

The new proposed approach for calibration and de-embedding is applied to an active device which is being in use in industry nowadays. The measurement result of the device within a load board has been compared to a calibrated measurement using an evaluation board that include TRL standards. This study has been extended with multi-port TRL calibration to be used for large variety of devices like the differential ones.

Key-words: TRL calibration, De-embedding, DUT, Multi-Port, Load board, Differential device.

RESUME

Les travaux de cette thèse traitent de l'élaboration d'une méthodologie efficace pour la modélisation des effets parasites dans une carte en large bande de fréquence. La réduction du «Time to Market» pour la conception des produits RF et hyperfréquences nécessite le développement d'une méthode efficace de caractérisation et de modélisation pour mieux prendre en compte les erreurs incluses dans la carte de test.

Les principaux résultats concernent les contributions suivantes :

- Mise au point des standards de calibrage innovateur pour caractériser et modéliser les effets parasites inhérent au modèle.
- Élaboration d'une nouvelle approche basée sur une technique de calibrage TRL et une méthode d'élimination efficace de ces effets.
- Application aux dispositifs différentiels lors de l'utilisation du calibrage TRL dans le cas de plusieurs ports.

La nouvelle approche proposée pour le calibrage et le de-embedding est appliquée à un dispositif actif qui est actuellement utilisé dans l'industrie. Les résultats de mesure d'un dispositif inclus dans une carte de test ont été comparés à des mesures calibrées à l'aide d'une carte d'évaluation comportant des standards TRL. Cette étude a été prolongée avec le calibrage TRL multi-port pour être utilisé pour la bande large des dispositifs comme les dispositifs différentiels.

Mots-clés: TRL, de-embedding, DUT, multi-port, carte de test, dispositif différentiel.